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TERMS OF REFERENCE

1

On the 4th June 1985, Mr Cooper, the officer-in-charge
at Leeways Children's Home was convicted of various
offences involving indecent photography of young
children. The London vBorough of Lewisham Social
Services Committee decided to set up an independent

ingquiry into the case. Its terms of reference were:

(i) to discover the facts about the events at
Leeways, some or all of which were the cause

of the arrest of the officer-in-charge;

(ii) +to consider how these could have continued

over the relevant period without detection;

(iii) to identify what measures need to be taken
to ensure that similar occurrencés do not

happen in future;

(iv) to report on the above and any other relevant

matters to the Social Services Committee

as soon as possible.

These terms were not intended té be restrictive
and we have tried- to look beyond the barticular
abuse which occurred in this case and to identify
‘matters which would have prevented any abuse of
children in Lewisham's care, whatever its nature, from

coming to light.




1.2

INTRODUCTION

OUR PROCEDURES )

It was decided that the enguiry should open
and close in public and that its report should
be published. All the evidence, however, has
been taken in private, on the basis that it
would be confidential to the inguiry. We
organised our procedures to try and ensure
that such confidentiality was .preServed. We
are aware that many witnesses have themselves
disclosed that they have given evidence to
us, and may have discussed -their evidence with
others. No such disclosure has been made by

the panel..

THE EVIDENCE

We have vhad, of course, no power to compel

witnesses to attend. We appealed for witnesses

to come forward at our public opening session

and advertised in the national and social work

press for anyone with information to give to
come forward. We also invited a number of
people by 1letter or telephone to contact us
when we felt that their evidence could Se helpful.
Over a period of eighteen days, we have inter-
viewed 64 witnesses, some of them more than

once. We received. written submissions from
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1.3

1.4

a further 13 witnesses who either did not wish
to give oral evidenée or /were not seen by us
because their evidence was of a general nature
or related to other establishments outside
Lewisham. We have also read a substantial

guantity of written material, including the

‘files on the children involved.

There was understandable public concern about
our decision to hear the evidence in priVate.
We therefore wish to record that we have received

the fullest co-operation from all sides, and

that‘ there is no material witness whom we

wished to see wham we have been unable to interview.
We are convinced that, by sitting privately,
we have heard evidence that would never have
come to light had we sat in public or allowed
an adversarial form of guestioning. We would
certainly commend this form of procedure to

other similar inquiries. . »

One of the matters which caused us most anxiety,
was whether or not we should systematically
attempt to see the children who were in Leeways,
other than those who came forward voluntarily.
We are very much aware that the children's
point of view is very often overlooked in inquiries

such as these. Despite this we decided not




to do so for three main reasons:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

we felt that we had enough evidence
from other sources to enable us to reach
our conclpsions without seeing the chil-
dren. This included all the material

which had already been oﬁtained from

.interviews with the children, the files

on the children and the oral evidence

which we did receive.

Almost all the children who are still
under age, especially those known to
have been photographed, had already
beeﬂ seen by their social workers and
given the. opportunity to discuss their
experienceé with a trusted adult, if

they wished.

Some children clearly had no conscious
recollection of anything that occurred,
and may be unharmed by it. . For other
children the evidence suggests. that
‘that may not be the case. We therefore
decided that subjecting the children
to further questioning about the events

would probably do more harm than good.

Our conclusions regardingthe children are to
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1.5

1.6

1.7

be found in sections 6 to 7 below.

Another concern about such inguiries is that
every person with a grievance against the Social
Services Department will come forward with

exaggerated claims. That has not been the

 case. Having regard to much of the lurid pub-

licity which the case attracted at the time,
we have been impressed by the moderate nature
of the evidence we heard. Similarly, and rather
to our surprise, we have not! been inundated
with evidence and submissions from ﬁressure

groups.

“There is one exception to our general rule

that the identity of the witnesses should remain
confidential. Mr Cooper has co-operated fully

with our inqguiry. 1In fairness to him, it seemed

right to point out where he challeriged the

evidence of other witnesses. This could not
be done without it being obvious what our source
was. He has therefore consented to our disclosing

his involvement and identity.

HINDSIGHT

We have tried to bear in mind throughout our
ingquiry that all the witnesses have spoken

to us with the benefit of hindsight and that




1.8

1.8

our own perception is inevitably coloured by

‘that most useful attribute. We have also borne in

mind that Leeways was not the only home with

which the Social Services Department and the

Residential Services Division were concerned.

OUR APPROACH

The local authority has a statutory. duty to
give first consideration to the need to safeguard

and promote the welfare of the <children in

| its care. Children are removed from their

homes by the local authority because 'they are
at risk there. The local authority must provide,

and be seen to provide, a better standard of

care than the natural family. It cannot therefore .

employ people who put childrenat risk from any

form of child abuse. We have accordingly appro-

thed our task on the basis that it is not
acceptable for paedophiles to be employed in

residential child care.

Although there was a considerable measuré of
agreement about much of the evidence we heard,
we have also had to resolve conflicts in the
evidence of witnesses' with different récollec-
tions of events. 'We have tried to synthe-
sise the evidence we have received to try and

give as accurate a picture as we can of the
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1.10

key events, without necessarily ‘indicating
at each point where the evidence conflicted.
We are satisfied that almost all the witnesses

we have heard have told us the truth so far

as they recall it.

Ultimately the conduct of the indiﬁiduals concer-
ned and their collective decisions énd responses
must be judged by reference to the statutory
obligation to which we have referred. We have:

therefore kept at the forefront of our delibera-

tions the simple gquestion:

"Were the interests of the children placed

first?"
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2. THE CONVICTIONS

2.1 On the 4th of June 1985, Mr Cooper pleaded

guilty to the following offences:

(i)

(ii) .

(iii)

(iv)

{(v)

(vi)

On a date unknown in 1979, he took inde-

cent photographs of a child under 16.

On a date unknown in 1979, he distributed
to Robert Dean a quantity of indecent
photographs of a child under the age

of 16.

‘On a date unknown in 1982 he took indecent

photographs of a child under 16.

On a date unknown in 1982 he distributed
to Robert Dean a gquantity of indecent
photographs of a child under the age

of 16.

On a date in 1982 he took indecent photo-

graphs of a different child under the

age of 16.

on a date in 1978 he incited J, a child
under the age of 14 years to commit

an act of gross indecency with M.
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(vii) On a date in 1978 he incited M, a child

under 14, to commit an act of gross

indecency with J.

(viii) On a date between the 1st January 1978

and the 31st December 1979, he indecently

.
SRR

assaulted S, a boy under the age of

-
Lmmeenmsecd
N

16.years.

He was sentenced to a total of 4 yea&s' imprison-
l~ ment. These weére specimen charges. Mr Cooper
had about 34 indexed albums of indecent photo-
graphs and a large number of loose ones, the
majority of which were of boys who had been
at Leeways. Charges (v) and (viii), however,

did not involve children who were at Leeways.

All these chHarges were based on. Mr Cooper's

)’,

L

own admissions to the police.

[P

2.2 It is important to emphasise that these offences

did not come to light because of any complaint

by a child or parent. The police were conducting

an investigation into male prostitution in

.
[ 1

the West End. Their enquiries led them: to

.
o

a man named Robert Dean, who was at the centre

of a ring for distributing indecent photographs

!-

- of children. This led them in turn to Mr Cooper,

who was one of Dean's contacts. He and. Dean

-
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10

exchanged 'indecent photographs. I+ appears
that Dean péssed on some of Mr Cooper's photo-
graphs to others but Mr4Cooper denies supplying
anyone else. Charges (ii) and (iv) related
to this exchange. There is no evidence that
Mr Cooper'received any paymeﬁt for these photo-

graphs.

s

Until 1978, it was not a specific statutory:

offence to take or distribute indecent photo-

.graphs of children. Tt was made an offence

by section 1 of the Protection of Childieq‘

Act 1978 which’ came into f@rca on the 20th
August 1978. However, any arrangement of child-
ren under the age of 14 in indecent poses oOr
encouragement of them to adopt such poses would

have amountéd'to an offence under the Indecency

Wwith Children Act 1960 and, in some circumstan=

ces, to indecent assault.

Charges (vi) and (vii) involving M and J, 2
boys who were then aged about 5 were in fact

brought under the Indecency With Children Act

1960. The boys were photographed in poses

suggesting real or simulated sexual activity.
Mr Cooper has throughout maintained that the
boys adopted the poses they did spontaneously.,

and they were not arranged by him. His’ incitment
s
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11

consisted of providing them with the place,
opportunity and encouragement. This account
was not accepted by the police, nor by the

judge. In our view it makes little difference

to the gravity of his conduct whether he actually

posed'the boys for these photographs, or whether
the boys were aware that he was a person who
would not discourage uninhibited sexual play.
On any view, he photographed them on this occa-
sion for his own gratification and subsequently

sent the photographs to Dean.,

It is riéht to correct at this stage, the impres-
sion given by some newspaper reports that Leeways
was closed because of Mr Cooper's arri‘est. This
is not the case. The last child had left Leeways

almost a year earlier.

It is also right to record our finding that
no other member of staff at Leeways was implica-

ted in any criminal behaviour by Mr Cooper.
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THE PHOTOGRAPHS

Mr Cooper was interested in photography from
an early age. It remained one of a number
of his hobbies, and was a major one from about
1971 or 1972 onwards. all the evidence we
have suggests that Mr Cooper pursued any hobby
with dedication and perfectionism, and photo-

graphy was no exception. He achieved a high

standard of technical brilliance. In conse-

guence, "he was responsible for ‘taking the
Department's adoption .photographs of both girls
and boys. In addition, he took a large number
of ordinary photographs of the _children at
Leeways which were also put into albums and
kept in his sitting room. Some were displayed
in the Home. "Everyone" knew that Mr Cooper

was a keen photographer.

Alongside these photographs, however, Mr Cooper
was taking indecent ones. These were only

of ‘little boys. The earliest which have been

jdentified were taken in about 1972 and the

latest in 1982. They fall into two groups.

In the first category are those in which children

are photographed in circumstances of "natural”
nudity, e.g.: in the bath, getting ready for
bed, etcetera.. Individually, these were the

sort of photographs which any parent might

R ——




- .

N N
[ © st} .

13

have of his or her child. It was the sheer

, gquantity of such nude photographs, the fact

that they were all of boys and that there were
no ‘“ordinary" photographs aﬁbng them which
indicated to the police an unhealthy interest
on Mr Cooper's part and made the photographs
indecent. The second category were tﬁose photo-
graphs which Mr Cooper himself considered inde-
cent. These were eithe; taken in his bedroom
at Leeways, where the normal portraits were
taken, or at his flat, or on holiday. They
were sexually more explicit , sometimes posed
by Mr Cooper. Some of the earlier ones come
into this category, and they predominated after
about 1978. They included the photographs
of J and M discussed at paragraph 2.4 above.
Even these were far from being the worst photo-
graphs which the police saw during their inves-
tigations when compared with those taken by

other men. .

Even before his conduct was specifically made
illegal, Mr Cooper was aware that it would
cost him his jdb if it came to light. He has
said, and we have no reason to doubt, that
he ‘did stop from time to time for periods of

6 months or a year but then another child would

arrive at the home whom he was interested in
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photographing, and he would begin again. All
the boys photographed were pre-pubertal, and
the age range was younger as the years went
by. The majority were small for their age,

white with blonde hair and blue eyes. Apart

from two ‘brothers who were both photographed,

all but one of the boys (who had an older sister
in the home) were either the only child in
the family at Leeways, or were the eldest of
the siblings. None of the boys involved had
been removed from his own fémily because of
sexual abuse, although we cannot completely
exclude the possibility that it may have occurred.
There is no evidence that Mr Cooper ever compel-
led an unwilling child to be indecently photo-
graphed. We discuss later (paragraph 6.2)
whether any other encouragement was used by

Mr Cooper.

Mr Cooper says that he stopped taking indecent
photographs in 1982 because he had 'ceased to
be interested in that type -of photography.
In any event, from that time onwards there

were hardly any children left in Leeways.

INDECENT ASSAULTS

3.5 The only charge of indecent assault brought
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against Mr Cooper (see paragraph 2.1) did not
involve a boy in care in Leeways. It was not
a specimen charge as the others were. We have
received evidence which suggests that some of
the boys who were in Leeways may also have
been indecently assaulted. This is not admitted
by Mr Cooper. although the evidence ‘appeared
to us to be reliable it was uncorroborated,
and the nature of our procedure did not permit
Mr Cooper to challenge the makers of the allega-
tions. we do not therefore think it right
to make any finding about whether these allega-

tions are true or not.
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MR COOPER'S CARE OF CHILDREN - A DIFFERENT.

PERSPECTIVE

Before moving on to consider the circumstances
which enabled Mr Cooper to commit the offences,

and some of the criticisms which have been

made of him, it is right to say at this stage

that -it is guite clear from the evidence we
have received that Mr Cooper had a genuine
fondness for young children gquite separate
from his sexual interest in some of the boys
and gave many of those in his care a good deal.
Some of the children who passed through Leeways
at different times have retained happy and

positive memories of their time there.

Similarly, a number of the witnesses we saw '

. have had high praise for the quality of his

child care. Many witnesses have been déeply
shocked by the revelation of a ﬁdarker side
to Mr Cooper's character. Only one, however,
has gone so far as to say that those years
of quality care far outweigh the taking of

a few photographs.
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CHRONOLOGY OF EVENTS AT LEEWAYS AND CORRESPONDING

DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN SOCIAL SERVICES

1965 ~ 1969

Leeways was acquired and established as a short-
stay children's home in 1965 by . what was then
the L.C.C. Children's Department. At that time
the Department was small.‘ There was a Childreﬁ's
Officer and an Assistant Child Care Officer
who ran both the field work and residential
services, until the appointment of a separate
Assistant Child Care Officer in 1967. He took
over responsibility for the residential homes.
It is significant, however, that the running
of the homes was regarded as mainly the respon-
sibility of the Senior Administrative Officer,
concerned wifh the bricks- and mortar. This
was a period of great expansion in the residen-
tial sector and between 1965 and 1970 the number

of children's homes increased from 6 to 18.

In October 1966, Mr Cooper, who was then 38
years of age, applied for the post of House
Father in charge of, Leeways. He had worked
in child care since 1958 and held the Central
Training Council's Certificate in Residential

Child Care, at a time when only about 4% of

" residential child care staff were qualified.




He made a good impression ‘at interQiew, where
he was seen by the Assistant Child Care Officer
and the Senior Administrative Officer. His
two" references spoke highly of his abilities
and .the Home 6ffice checks did not reveal any
cause for conéern. He was offered the post.
In his letter of acceptance, he asked for permis-
sion to bring with him a young boy that he
héd been fostering during the school holidays
for the previous three years for the London
Boroughy of 1Islington. This was checked out
and Islington advised that there was nothing
gquestionable in the relationship. It was there-

fore agreed that this arrangement could continue.

211 the evidence we have recéived' suggests
that in those early years Leeways was a well-
run home. Mr Cooper was anxious to put his
ideas into practice. The staff worked long.
hours dealing with emergency receptions. Apart
from Mr Cooper, there wag a Deputy and junior
staff. The junior staff were older and already
had some experience. Mr Cooper trained and
encouraged them. The Assistant Child Care
Officer (from 1967) and the Senior Administrative Officer
visited ‘regularly. The Home Office Children's
Inspectorate inspected Leewayé twice during

this period and its Officers were more, than

e
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satisfied with the way it was being run.

1970 - 1974

In 1970, the structure of the Department changed
with the implementation of the Seebohm Commit-
tee's recommendations and the amalgémétion
of Departments which had previously been‘seﬁara;
tely run. A diagram of the new Department,
showing the relationship between the various
posts is set out at Appendix 1. The Director
of Social Services and the Assistant Direcfor
for Residential Services both came from the
Welfare Department. The Deputy 'Director came
from the Children's Department. The Assistant
Child Care .Officer became responsible for the
Social Casework Division. The Senior Administra-
tive Officer became the Principal Officer (Plan-
ning and Development) and his regular contact

with Leeways ceased.

This change-over has been described to us as
chaotic. People who had no previous experience
of residential child care were suddenly plunged
into it. It is hardly surprising that the
few people with recognised expertise, including
Mr Cooper, had their opinions sought and were

highly regarded. One consequence of the change
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was undoubtédly a lesseﬁing‘ of the direct

supervision of Leeways and Mr Cooper by the

management team. His autonomy as Head of Home

increased significantly.'

Side by. side with these changes within the
Department, there was a change in the political

control of the Council. The Labour party thk

office. In 1970 the Chair of the Social Services .

Committee became held by a man whose own back-
ground was in children's work. He remained
as Chair until 1982. He visited Leeways regu-
larly, and had a high regard for Mr Cooper.

Other Councillors also visited over the years.

From 1972 onwards, aspects of Mr: Cooper's child
care began to be the subject of criticism.

These included allegations:-

- Of excessive regimentation and control within

the home and an ‘"oppressive" atmosphere.

\

- That he had a group of boys‘who were clearly
favourites and treated better than the other

children.

- That tﬁe staff were no longer being properly
trained and developed} for example, there

were no staff.meétings.
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- About his negative attitude  towards girls.

- 0f his harsh punishment of children who were

not favourites.

During this period the criticism was fragmented.
Apart from the Staff Development Officer, the
critics were either parents or Jjunior staff.
Complaints from the parents were usually made
to the Social Worker concerned with the indivi-
dual family. In the case of a trainee Social
Worker the criticism was made .to her supervisor
in the Social Case Work Division. It was almost
certainly dismissed as a personality clash,

and not passed on. In the case of one of the

junior staff at Leeways, she voiced her concerns

to her superviéor, Mr Cooper. His reaction
was to say that she was not up to the job,
although no such allegation was made before
she complained. She was shocked. She subse-

quently saw a man and a woman at Eros House

(the Social Services Department headquarters) -

who told her that she could either resign or
be sacked. . When she told them about her con-
cerns, they did not appear to take any notice.
She left. It is alleged that another girl
who was there about the same time (1972-3)

had a similar experience.
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It is right to say that neither Mr. Cooper,
nor his Deputy ’at that time would aécept the
validity of sucl': criticisms. That Deputy left
in 1974. She ‘was replaced by another woman
who had brought up her own family and fostered
children. . She did not want to take on the
responsibility of- being Deputy and Dbetween
1974 and 1976 was merely Acting Deputy. In

1972, another young woman began work at Leeways.

She was young and untrained. She commenced

as a basic grade worker and became Senior Assis-

tant after a few years. They were both extremely
loyal to Mr Cooper. By and large, they accepted
his ideas and authority uncritically, The

only other long-serving staff were the cook,

who came in 1972, and ‘the domestic Qho came

in 1975. They both remained there until the

end of 1984.

1974-1976

In May 1974, a Residential Adviser was appointed.
This was a new job, the precise nature of which

was unclear. The person appointed had a sound

background in residential <child care. She.

found it very difficult to gain any recognition
of her expertise, or to gain support for what
she was trying to do. Management, at the level

of Principal Officer and above, lacked under-
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standing of the residential child care task.
The main cbncern in the running of residential
homes was still the bricks and mortar. Adminis-
tratively, Leeways was always extremely well
run by Mr'Cooper and accordingly the Assistant
Director and the then Principal Officer did

not think that she was needed there. She was

, concerned about the regimented regime and Mr

Cooper's favouritism. She was also concerned
about his taking somenof the boys away at the
weékends, and suspected Mr Cooper of having
an unhealthy interest in little boys. Her con-
cerns were shared by the Administratiﬁe Officer.
The Home was always short of staff, many were
young and inexperienced. There was no control
by tﬁe Residential Services over which children
were placed in the Homes, as this was the respon-
sibility of the Social Case Work Division.
During 1975, the Residential Adviser voiced
her concern at a meeting of the Direcorate.
Their attitude was that if they and the Social
case Work Division were satisfied, who was

she to criticise?

During the summer of 1975, the Residential

Adviser arranged for a young woman who had

been trained in residential child care to go

to Leeways as a Deputy. Her object was either
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to achieve some improvement in child care prac-
tice or to provoke a crisis which would compel
management to listen. This ‘object -was not
known to the young woman concerned. Her cri-

ticisms of Mr Cooper's child care were the
same as those made previously (see para 5.7).
She was also concerned that Mr Cooper

was fostering another boy, who Had been in
Leeways, but was. now in the care of another
authority, and who was treated differeﬁtly
from the other children. She tried to discuss
her concerns with Mr Cooper and the other staff
and to suggest changes. No one would 1is£gn.
Mr Cooper complained about her to the Residential
Adviser and to the‘ Assistant Director, but
did not say anything to her. Shortly afterwards,
the young woman herself went to the Residential
Adviser, asking for a transfe? and voicing
her concerns. The Aﬁviser spoke fo Mr Cooper,
but got nowhere, and he refﬁsed £§ 'have' the
Deputy who was on leave that day, back at

Leeways.  Both the new Principal Officer and

the Administrative Officer told him that there '

‘'was insufficient justification fér this action.
When the Deputy was interviewed again, however,
it was made clear to "her that fshe‘ would have
to leave and could not be guaragteed any other
employment with the .Council. . She contacted

her Union. She was transferréd to another
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establishment, on a lower grade, but at the
same salary, and when another deputy's job
came up she was then appointed-.to it. This
does not suggest that the management regarded
Mr Cooper's complaints about her competence
as justified. Thereafter, the Residential
Adviser made no progress as far as Leeways
was concerned, and left tﬁe Department in June

1977.

A new Principal Officer (Children's) had joined
the Department in September 1975. His background
was also in residential child care. He had
limited direct contact with Leeways. He received
regular reports from the Residential Adviser
and Administrative Officer .and shared their
concerns about Mr Cooper}s child care and his
attitudes towards staff, particularly his refusal
to accept maie members of staff. ‘Like them,
he found his attempts to gquestion Mr Cooper's
attitudes or child care had no backing from
the Assistant Director because of the support
for Mr Cooper from the Social Case Work Division.
The only area about which the_Assistaﬁt Director
(Residengial Division) appeared to be concerned
was Mr ;Cooper's claims for overtime, which
were regarded as excessive and about which

there were frequent battles.
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puring this period, from about 1974/5 onwards,
the task of Leeways changed from emergency
reception to préparing children for €fostering
and adoption. We have the impression that
Mr Cooper had begun to stagnate and responded
well initially to this fresh challenge. In
September 1976, Leeways was' redesignated as
a specialised pre-fostering and adoption home
for younger children. The early 1970s had
witnessed the beginning of an iﬁportant shift
in emphasis away £from residential care towards
placing as many children as possible for foster-
ing and adoption. This trend was given addi-
tional impetus in the late 1970s when the Children
Act 1975 came into force. The quality of
Lewisham's fostering and adoption services
has received nothing but praise during our
inquiry, and is universally acknowledged to
be the achievement of the then Assistant Di;ector
of the Social Case Work Division, by all accounts

a redoubtable personality.

Towards the end of 1976, the’ weekend cook,
who had been employed at Leeways for about
18 months, commented to Mr Cooper that she

thought he was excessively affectionate to-

wards the boy he was fostering (see paragraph

5.11). In October 1976, Mr Cooper made
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serious complaints about her abilities as a
cook, although she had passed her probationary
periods without complaint. She was. disciplined
and demoted to a cleaning job. She believes
that the two events were connected, Mf Cooper.
denies any ‘such- connectionf The record of
his complaints survives. 'The record of the
disciplinary proceedings apparently does not,}
We are therefore unéble to ascertain positively
whether the cook mentioned her concern at the

disciplinary hearing or not.

1977 - 1978

By 1977 there were 5 junior staff working at
/Leeways as well as Mr Cooper, the Deputy and
Senior Assistant. There was also at least
one trainee. The junior'staff were ‘extremely
worried about the gquality of child care which

. they found. In particular they were concerned

about:

(i) Favouritism. Mr Cooper's group noticeably
copsisted onljl of 1little white boys, usually
blonde and 5lue‘eyed, who were specialiy favoured.
The junior staff were allowed very little contact
with these. boys, who spent their leisure in

Mr Cooper's company, sat with him at mealtimes,

»
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and considered that they were only, accountable

N

+o him.

(ii) His attitudes towards girls and black
children, for whom he had no ?ime.

\

(iii) Mr Cooper's boys (as they were known)

were allowed into his bedroom individually

.in the morning, ostehsibly to make ﬁis téa.

(iv) Mr Cooper taking boys away on holiday

or go his home.

{v) The regimentation and oppression of

the children.

(vi) Mr Cooper's attitudes towards themselves,
his laziness, the fact that there were no staff
meetings and that they were not allowed to
attend\ éase conferences on the children for

whom they were the key worker.

None of these were matters which they felt
able to discuss with\ anyone who visited the
homé such visitors usually being seen by Mr
Cooper. The trainee did discuss matters with
the Staff Development Officer,p and with the

Head of Home at her next placement.
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The five 3junior staff decided to go to Eros
House. This was at the end of 1977 or beginning
of 1978. What appears to have precipitated
their action was two of the boys asking Mr
Cooper one mealtime when theyb-were going to
go to his flat ‘again, play silly games with

their clothes off, and have their photos taken.

‘He told them to be quiet (meals were usually

eaten in silence). Other boys had spoken of

being dressed in girls' or “funny" clothes

and being photographed.

At Eros House they saw the Principal Officer
(Children's) and the new Residential Adviser
who had joined the Division in September 1977.
No record of this interview has been found.
They tried to put their complaints across and
their abiding impression is that they were

not listened to as:

(i) they had no evidence;
-
(ii) they had by-passed the correct procedure
in not confrﬁnting Mr Cooper with their

allegations;

(iii) Mr Cooper was the gqualified Head of

the Home and they did not know what
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they were talking about.

(iv) They would rather have one good superin-

tendant than 5 junior staff.

‘They returned to Leeways to face Mr Cooper

who was angry but some thought that he was

frightened as well.

They all 'résigned over a short period there-
after. They all believed that nothing was
done to investigate their allegations. Their
visit did 1lead to staff meetings being held,
but those who were still at Leeways unders;and—
ably found it difficult to voice their complaints
at those meetings. They were also occasionally
invited to attend/ case conferences. They had
mentioned that Mr Cooper, who had been non-
resident since April 1977 was actually back
residing at Leeways without the appropriate
deductions being made from his salary. Hisf
status was a;tered "again in conseguence, and
thereafter he .was ;ﬁarged for .his‘ residence.

/
In fact the Principal Officér interrogated

Mr Cooper at about this time about:-

(i) a boy called Peter who had alleged that

s e R e

ey ooy r._i;w._, (ﬂ.'m?_,,ﬂ e ’ . oy
[I v.ii L,iili,» s,,-,,..‘i L.i IJ i P i,»

—y
a e




31

he was photographed dressed as a girl;
(ii) taking boys into his room in the mornings;

(iii) taking photographs of 3 boys without

clothes on.

Mr Cooper believed . that the 1last allegation
was a result ‘of a conversation between the
boys in the dining room. Mr Cooper gave his

explanations, which were:

(i) the boy was actually dressed in a Mexican

poncho and hat;
(ii) they were making tea for him;

(iii) it was a very hot day. The boys took
' off their T-shirts, their shorts and
sandals, and he photographed them in

swimming trunks.

Mr Cooper still insists that those explanations
were true. He was later telephoned by the
Principal Officer and told that his explanations
were accepted. No written record of this incidert
"has been found. Neither the Director nor Assis-

tant Director has any recollection of being
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told about this, although both would have expec-
ted the Principal Officer to have discussed
it with them. Mr Cooper was under the impres-
sion that the Director had accepted his explana-
tion but Qe are unable to reach any firm

conclusion about this.

We also received some evidence to suggest that
the Principal Officer may also, and possibly

on another occasion, have spoken to Mr Cooper

about allowing a boy to sleep in his bedroom.

The explanation given was of a temporary accommo-
dation crisis,b and that the boy had a camp
bed. We have been tqld that Mr Cooper was "af~
fronted and outraged" by an aliegation of homo-
sexual practice, implicitly invoiving little

boys made at about that time.

In October 1977, a mother did complain to her
children's Social Worker about photographs
which Mr Cooper showed her of her son. The
child was fully dressed put posed in the mannef
of TMgirlie" pﬁotographs. The Social Worker
did speak to Mr Cooper about this. She - was
not shown the photographs herself and did nof
take the matter further. Had she done so,
it is most unlikely, given the . structure of

the Department, that the matter would have
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come to the attention of the Residential Divi-
sion. The mother has also alleged that she
‘saw similar photographs of her daughter dressed

as a "bunny girl" which upset her.

1978 - 1982

5.22 The five staff who left were replaced by other
young girls. They too were critical of Mr.
Cooper's child care but were unsure of their

. own judgment in the face of Mr Cooper's authori-
tarianism, supported as he was by the Deputy
and Senior Assistant. They were still not
encouraged to take training, staff meetinés
were spasmodic, and they had 1little contact
with anyone from Eros House or Councillors.
They feared Mr Cooper's anger, as he wou;d
humiliate them in front of the children. They
felt that the regime of the Home was organised
more for the benefit of Mr Cooper than for
the children but had no one with whom they
could discuss matters. They did not know about
the Residential Adviser and those who held
that post found it difficult to get beyond
'Mr Cooper to talk to the staff directly. More-
over, the five junior staff who had gone to
Eros House 1iveé on in the mythology of Leeways
as, "the five who complained about Mr Cooper -

they got the sack, and Mr Cooper stayed."




5.23

5.24

34

The years 1978/79 were significant ones. The
first review of residentiai children's homes
took place in 1977. Leeways was not threatened
with closure but people working in residential
care undoubtedly felt vulnerable. In particular
younger children coming into care were being
placed more and more in short-term foster homes
rather than in residentiai establishments.
Criticism began to.be voiced about the guality
of the assessments being done at Leeways by
the Social Case Work Division, which was also

concerned that childreh stayed- there too 1long.

The Principal Officer (Children's) 1left in
September 1978 and was replaced by the Residen-
tial Adviser. In June 1979, a new Assistant
Officer .{Children‘'s) Residential was appointed.
He doubled as Residential Adviser for about a’
year. The background of both men was in residen-~
tial child care. Both were concerned about the
Quality of M} Cooper's child care based on the
matters set out above and their own observations.
They both believed that Mr Cooper was a homo-
sexual. After the new Residential Adviser
joined thelDivision in 1980 she shared their_con-
cern; save that she came to pelieQe that Mr
Cooper's sexual development was fixed at an im-
mature pre-pubertal level. She was appointed;

in part, to deal with certain of the Heads
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of hames whose child care practice was the subject of cri-
ticism. She had, however, no executive role. These three
people did try to change Mr Cooper's practice, by counsel-
ling and persﬁasion, mainly through the Residen-

tial Adviser. She, of course, had no management
power over Mr Cooper. He felt that he knew
more about: residential child care than she

did, and in most material aspects, ignored

her views.

At no time during this period did anyone who
was managerially responsible for Mr Cooper
ever confront him with the ma%ters of concern
or suggest to him that unless‘ he changed his
practice, his job would be at risk. We discuss

the reasons fof this elsewhere in the report

(sections 1T and 12).

Instead they used more covert techniques.. An
Admissions Panel was established in f980 1o
that control over who went to Leeways was in
the hand of Residential Management rather than-
Mr Cooper. He was unhappy about this change,
rightly interpreting it as a threat to his
autonomy. This Management Group also decided
to improve the calibre of staff at Leeways,
and insisted that male staff were employed
there with a view to confronting Mr Cooper.
.Once put in that situation, they were given

no support by Management. Arrangements were
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made for staff to be sent away on courses.

This process bégan in 1981, but it was really
only in 1982/3 that the process gathered any
real momentum. By that time there were very
few children in Leeways. None of these tactics
appear to have prevented Mr Cooper from continu-
ing to take indecent photographs of children,
nor did they bring any fresh information  to

light to suggest that he was doing so.

In about mid-1980, Mr Cooper reported to the
Assistant Officer (Children's Residential)
that one boy was showing signs of disturbance
‘and had éxposed himself to "him. This Areport
was accepted and recorded. The letter congratu-

lated Mr Cooper on his handling of this difficult

boy. In relation to this child, however, who

was one of the photographed boys, we have also
received evidence that when one of " the care
workers mentioned to Mr- Cooper that she thought
this boy was beginning to confide in her, both
she and the boy were told not to talk to one
anothef again.. There is no evidence that this
was mentioned to anyone in Management at the

time.

The trainee mentioned in paragraph 5.17 above,

who had been extremely unhappy at Leeways,
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1

continued her training after she left and Qent
away on a course. puring her studies she did
some research into sexual abuse of children.
Matters fell into place and she became convinced
that Mr 'Cooper was a paedophile. In 1981,
she spoke to the Assistant Officer (Children's
Residential) when they happened +o meet, and
voiced her suspicions. She~was given the impres-
sion that indirect action was being taken but
that without concrete proof no disciplinary

action could be taken. No attempt was made

"by him to investigate the basis for her accusa-

tion and no direct action was taken 'against

Mr Cooper.

1982 - 1984

1982 was a significant year. In January, the
Deputy at Leeways retired and in September
the Senior Assistant left to go on a course.
From about 1979 onwards, a reyiew had been
underway into the future of residential child
care services. Consideration of the conclusions
had- been delayéd because of the local government
elections in 1982 and conceén that the political
complexion of the Council would change. It
did. Thére was an influx of younger, more
radical, L?bour Councillors, many of whom were

without experience in local government. The
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. previous Chair of Social Services. COntinged
in office for a year. In June 1982 the Social
Services Committee considered the report.

The future of Leeways was questioned. ° The
Chair fought hard and effectively against its
closure. The review was not implemented.
All the uncertainties about the future of resi-
dentigl child care remained unresolved, and

have had a devastating effect upon morale.

In July 1982, the ‘Director of Social Services
retired. He was succeeded by the Deputy Director
in circgmstances which cannot have convinced
him, or anyone else, of his ébility to handle
the job. In November 1982 the Assi5£ant Director
for Residential Services retired and was replaced

by the present Assistant Director.

Some time prior to November 1982, Mr Cooper
contacted the Assistant Director for Social
Case Work because he was concerned about the
future. She saw him together with the then
Assistant Director for Residential Services.
On thatlloccassion it was spelled out to him
that he had not kept up with the changes in
adoption and fostering practice. and wunless
he could change, the future for him was bleak.

He was also told that there should be proper
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staff meetings and he was not to have his own
group of boys. So far as we can tell this
was the only occasion upon which Mr Cooper
was directly confronted by senior management
in this way. It was too late for him to éhange

and the heart went out of him.

In July 1983, Mr Cooper applied to take early
retirement. His application was caught by

a change in Council policy towards this.

.In May 1983, a new Chair of the Social Services:

Committee was elected. She had been Vice—CQair

l

for the previous year, and was employed as

a Social Worker in another London Borough.

-She became much more iﬁvolved» in the day-to-

day running of the Department than her predeces-
sor and this level of -involvement by elected

members has continued.

In the autumn of 1983, there was a nationwide

strike by residential workers. This included the
staff at Leeways in which there were now only
4 children. Basically, the home was not re-
opened after the strike. The last child left

in January 1984.

The only other odd incident occurred on the’




10th September ,1983. @ Mr Cooper was burning
some confidential papers in the garden. He
put the fire out but- shortly afterwards the

rear fence caught alight and damaged a neigh-

bour's shed. . Mr Cooper's first account of

this omitted to mention that two of the boys

had been involved in this incident. It was

only when the loss adjusters investigaiéd that

“the boys"involvement came to light. 'The Assis-

tant Officer (Children's Residential) and Resi-

dential Adviser were concerned about this inci-

J

dent because Mr Cooper's second account revealed

some divisive and unsatisfactory child care

3

practice. It is noteworthy that despite the

fact that a daily log book was kept during’

this' period, there is no record for the relevant

date. Similarly no record appears on the files‘

of either boy involved nor were the social

workers informed.

After the last child 1left Leeways, VMr Cooper
continued to 1live there and was ministered
to by the cook and domestic. He did some escort
work for another home, Sut/ that was all. He

re-applied for early retirement  but this had

‘not been agreed at the time of his arrest.

He was still 1living at Leeways at the time
of his arrest in December 1984. He subsequently

resigned.

.
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.DID THE CHILDREN CONFIDE IN ANYONE?

There were numerous people in whom the children
could have confided about what " was happening
to them, staff, social workers, the visiting
psychiatrist, parents, siblings, foster or
adoptive parents or staff in other care estab-
lishments after they left Leéways. There is

no evidence that any of them did so.

We have tried to answer the gquestion: "Why not?2"

Four possible answers have been given to us:-

(i) That Mr Cooper was Just very lucky,
since he took no measures to prevent
.or discourage the children from talking.
This is Mr Cooper's own account. We
find it impossible, given. all we have
been told by and about Mr Cooper to
accept this. Nothing we have heard
suggests that he was the sort of man
who left anything to chance, let alone
a matter which could have cost him all

that he most valued.

(ii) That the indecent photography had no
significance for the children and there-

fore they never mentioned it. We think




(iii)

(iv)
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that this may well be true in the case

-of children involved in the '"natural"”

nude photographs described at paragraph-
3.2 above. It has been cogently argued
to us by an eminent witness that this
explanation applies to all thé children.
We are unable, in the light of all the.
other evidence we have received, to

accept'this comfortable analysis.

That the 'children were threatened by
Mr Cooper, and were therefore afraid
to confide. There is no evidence of
this whatsoever, and some evidence sugges-
ting that Mr Cooper did not photogrgph
unwilling children. We therefore rejeét

this explanation.

That the children trusted and were fond

of Mr Cooper. They were favoured within

the home and had his approval. We

have considered the type of boys involved
at paragraph 3.3 above. Many of <them
were described by others as children
"who would do anything' for attention".

Almost all were desperate for affection.

Like many children involved in sexual

abuse by adults they trusted, a mixture
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of guilt and fear that betrayal of the
secret would result in the withdrawal
of affection seems to us the most likely
explanation of their silence.. There
is  ¢vidence that Mr Cooper told one
boy that he [Mr Cooper] would get into
trouble if anything was ;aid. The evi-
dence about whether Mr Cooper actually
rewarded the children who were'photogrg;
phed is conflicting, and we are unable

to reach any firm conclusion on this.

+ S50 far as social workers are concerned, we

do not find it surprising that the children
did not confide in them. Whereas they see them-
selves as caring, we suspect that even such
young children often regard the social worker
as "the person who took them away from home”
and not as someone in whom they could confide.
Social work practice also frequently means
that when a child is placed for fostering' and
adoption, the field social worker is replaced
by someone from the Fostering and Adoption
Team whd i; unknown to the child. This, for
different féasons would also reduce the likeli-

hood of a child confiding in the social worker.

Part of a child's reluctance to confide may
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be due to a fear that he or she may not be
believed. We deal with this aspect later in

our report (paragraph 5.4 to15.6).

Lewisham has already contacted most of the
children who were involved in.the offences with
a view to offering éounselling or therapy should
this be needed. This should enable any children
who may have been disturbed by what occurred
to receive help. We doubt whether it is ﬁeces»

sary to try to extend this programme.
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DID THE CHILDREN MAKE - "INNOCENT" -REMARKS WHICH

OUGHT TO HAVE BEEN PICKED UP?

As is clear from paragraph 5.16 there
were occasions in 1977 when children did make
remarks which +the then Jjunior staff picked

up and attempted‘to follow up.

Every witness we have heard who worked in Leeways
has assured us that on no other occasion did
any child ever make similar remarks, nor did
any "unfavoured" child make any comments. We
have tried very hard to believe this, but have
found it impossible to do so. On the other
hand, given the circumstances Wwe consider
in section 9 below, we accept that such remarks
did not ring any warning pbells, and have there-
fore been genuinely forgotten by those we have

spoken to..

We have considered the alternative possibility
that after 1978 when“Mr Cooper's photography
became illegal and after he had had a "close
shave" with Eros House (paragraph 5.19) he
became even more vigilant to énsure that the
boys had no opportunity to say anything, even
innocently. We have found no evidence that

this was so.
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WERE THERE OTHER HINTS WHICH OUGHT TO HAVE

BEEN PICKED UP?

Mr Cooper fostering children and taking them

away on holiday. -

On two occasions (see paragraphs 5.2, 5.11,

and 5.14) Mr Cooper fostered 'a boy who had

"been in his care and was now in the care of

another Authority. The first occasion was
certainly checked by Lewisham. We have no
evidence about  whether, if at all, any watch

was kept on the situation. So far as the second

- boy is concerned, we have no clear evidence

about whether or not anyone at Eros House knew
that the boy was being fostered or who, if
anybo@y, gave permission for this. ‘Such an
arrangement would be extremely unusual in te:ms
of child care practice. We feel it should
have been carefully monitored, especially in
view of all we have heard about this boy, and

his relationship with Mr Cooper.

Mr Cooper has admitted taking a boy who had

been in his care away on holiday with him on

4 occasions. (Three boys were involved, one
being taken twice. This was the second boy
he fostered, discussed above.) The evidence

suggests that none of these boys was actually

!
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in Lewisham's care at the time, and we do not
know whether anyone in Lewisham knew that this
was happening or would have been alerted had
they done so. The evidence that we have suggests
that they appeared to be "father and son" on
these,‘occasions. We believe that. if - these
matters were known to the management at Eros

House, they should have rung some warning bells.

We +think -that the fact that Mr Cooper took
boys back to his flat, whilst it clearly did
cause some concern to those who were capable
of adding it to their unease about his relation-
ship with "his" boys, was not necessarily signi-
ficént in itself. It clearly did facilitate
the commission of the offences but other staff
took their groups home to give the children
experiences outside the institution which were

wholly beneficial.

Other incidents.

vVarious witnesses have described incidents
which they saw, which wi£h hindsight they regard
as having significance. These include demon-
strations of affection by Mr Cogper towards
the boys which they thought were excessive oOr

unusual; a child being in bed with Mr Cooper:;
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his fondness for a favourite child; and conversa-

tions in which he described his 1love of young

i

children. Listed 1like this, of course, and

with hindsight, they appear damning. At the

time, they were the isoclated impressions of

people who had no opportuhity to discuss them
with others. We do not think it a. matter. for
criticism that individually these were not
followed up. What is. striking, however, “is
that apart from the matters dealt with in para-

graphs 5.14 to 5.16 and 5.28, hardly any such

. observations come from members of the staff

at Leeways. We consider this further 'in paragra-

phs 9.3 to 9.7.

Sexual abuse of children by trusted adults
is a matter which has only recently begun to
receive publie attention. Alfhough research
suggests ‘that such children do show _changés
in behaviour indicative of disturbance, the
problem with children wh§ are already in residen-
tial care is that they are often showing signs
of disturbance due to the.traumatic experiences
they have already undergone. Further signs
of disturbance are 1likely to be attributed
to parental failure rather than abuse of the

child in care.




{

L

[.-q F.-!

]

L.

J

e

' -
J

{

|

g (

bi d

f-.! @!.F

i {
J

8.6 A programme for training field social workers

8.7

in recognising sexual abuse is already underway,
and procedures have béen developed to  help
bring cases to 1light. No similar training
pfogramme has yet been developed fbr residential
workers. We think it important that such train-
ing, be given, particularly as it would help
dispel the prevalent mytﬁ» that once children

are taken into care, they are "safe".

We see it as 3just as important for . workers
to recognise what are not sign; of sexual abuse.
It has been of .great concern to us throughout
the inguiry that our findinés and conclusiéns

should not discourage residential workers from

'physical demonstrations of affection.  There

are occasions when it is right and necessary
for care staff to cuddle or be alone with a
child. Nor do we think it helpful for there
to be artificial rules to prevent staff from

being on their own with children in certain

situations.

We have also considered whether the children.
too should be educated abéut the risks of abusé
by tﬁe adults around them, gnd what to do about
it if it occurs. Although it is feared thét

this may increase the risk' of unfounded
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allegafions being made, and aléo that it will
treat‘ children in reéidential care differently
from those -who are not, we are. of the view
that, on balance, such training should be'given,
not juét +o those in residential care but,
where apprdpriate; to those in foster homes
as well. Normally we would expect this to

be the responsibility of the care staff them-

selves, just as it 1is of parents, .and they

should be enabled by the training to which

we have referred and the provision where appro-

priate of resource material, to carry out this

task.

ﬁ[v ‘We recommend that a programme be
implemented to enable residential
workers to  detect  child abuse,
including sexual abuse, and to provide
children with appropriate information
to help them to protect themselves.
Additional resources might be necessary

to fund such a programme.
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WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES COMBINED TO PREVENT MR COOPER

FROM BEING FOUND OUT?

Mr‘ Cooper did not intend to be found  out.

This was a most important factor. Mr Cooper
was both cunning and plausible. Administra-=
tively, he ran the Home well, ‘making it less
likely that anyone would ask any guestions.
He successfully resisted for Yyears, .changes
in his child care practice which might héve
brought matters to light. He had his legitimate
photography as a cover. We have dealt in

section 6 with how we believe the children

were kept quiet.

Mr Cooper's position as Head of Home.

We have already referred to the autonomy which
he enjoyed from 1970 onwards (paragraph 5.5).
He was autocratic and Leeways had to be run
his Qay. This way enabled him to exercise
enormous control over both staff and children.
Timetabling and punctuality were an obsession.
Meals had to be on the table exactly on the
dot. Children were discouraged £rom talkiﬁg
at meals. Thus, he had only to bring his group
of children back from a photography session
immediately before a meal to ensure that they

had no real opportunity to confide in another
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member of staff or let out some innocent remark,
even if they had wished to do so. Mr Cooper
also controlled the coﬁtact which . children
and staff had with visitors. In particular,
he had control over whether or not children
had access to their parents. Some parents
have certainly associated a reduction in their
access with guestioning aspects of Mr Cooper's
behaviour. No one had any privacy, except
Mr Cooper. Most of the rooms had an: intercom system,
set up by Mr Cooper which enabled him to lis£en
in on qdnversations. He was also able to listen
in on telephone calls made by both children
and staff. On the other hand, staff entered
his sitting-room, which was -also the office
"if they dared". All the staff were expected
to waif on Mr Cooper and this increased their

sub_servient role.

The staff at Leeways.

As is clear from paragraphs 5.8, 5.11, and

5.14 to 5.18, we have received a considerable

body of evidence to suggést £hat no one who
criticised Mr Cooper's behaviour or his methods
lasted very long at Leeways. He favoured the
appointment of young female staff, whom he
could mould. They were inexperienced, untrained,

and had nothing with which to compare their
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experience at Leeways (ibid and paragraph 5.22).
Leeways itself was isolated, being outside
the Borough. The staff wére isolated, having
little contact with anyone from Eros House,
the elected members or social workers, all
of whom tended to be seen by Mr Cooper. They
had no contact with staff in other establish-

ments.

On the evidence we have, those junior staff
who remained at Leeways longest certainly ap-
peared to have far less forceful personalities
than those who 1left, and to have been more
naive and biddable. No one can blame them
for this, nor, given their personalities, for
not appreciating what Mr Cooper was doing.
The responsibility for this clearly lies with
those who did not ensure that staff of a dif-
ferent calibre were employed there. (See section
1M1). Moreover those same managers relied upon
the jﬁdgment of those junior staff when they sub-
mitted reports to case conferences at which vital
decisions were made about the future placement of

the children in Leeways. .

The senior staff.

We have already commented (paragraph 5.9) upon

the'loyalty of both his Deputies and the Senior




54

Assistant to Mr Cooper. We accept that none
of them knew'what was going on, We think that
had they been less under Mr Cooper's influence
than they were,. they would have ‘questioned
some of the practices at Leeways which facilita-
ted the commission of the offences. Scme‘mat-
ters, such as the boy§ being in his bedroom

in the mornings ought to have raised suspicions,

which we accept were not raised. We reject

any - suggestion that they activeiy colluded

in any impropriety.

we also think that the relationship between
Mr Cooper, tﬁe Deputy and Senior ‘Assistant,
was such that it .provided an effective barrier
to cri%icism from fjunior staff and to change
being implemented, from the m;d-19703 onwards.
We believe that Mr Cooper felt very confident
that he could rely upon the Deputy and Senior
Assistant to back him in whatever he chose
to do. He certainly felt sufficiently confident
+o leave "his boys" in his Deputy's care while
he‘ took extended holidays, without apparently
fearing that they might "spill the 'beans" to
‘her. Alternatively, he may have believed that
if they did say anything he would be able to
give her a plausible explanation which would

sétisfy her.
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One other person whose role calls for some
comment is the child psychiatrist -who viéited
Leeways regularly to assess the children. He
is one of the people who throuéhout had an
extremely high regard for Mr Cooper. He appears
to have depended heavily in his ‘assessment
of the children on what Mr Cooper told him
and on observing them playing. We can find
little evidence toO suggest that he interviewed
the children on their own, oI in circumstances
in which they might have confided in him or
he might have been alerted to what was happening.
He appears to have been completely oblivious
to aspects of Mr Cooper's child care which
were causing concern elsewhere and 'fegarded
such criticisms as i1l1-informed. His backing
of Mr Cooper undoubtedly made the‘task of those
who were trying to change Leeways more diffi-
cult. Even more importantly, many of those
who had doubts about Mr Cooper's sexuality
or his interest in little boys were able to
reassure themselves that the p;ychiatrist would
have been aware 1if there had been anything

seriously wrong. Their faith was misplaced.

Mr Cooper's child care practice.

(See paragraphs 5.7 and 5.15) We had been

unprepared at the start of <the inquiry for
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the amount of criticism of Mr Cooper’s' child
cére practice which we actually feceived. Therei
can be . no doubt that some of these praqtices'
facilitated the commission of the offences,
especially, of course, the way he controlled
his group and the way the boys in it were chosen
and treated. Many of those who expressed concern
about these matters throughout the 1970s were
understandably angry to think that the situation
had persisted long after they left. None of
them were surprised to learn of the offences.
We think that management has:-a heavy responsi-
bility for not having tackled these matters

effectively. We examine the reasons for this

in section 12 .

Similaily, we think that the Deputy and Senior
Assistant must share some responsibility for
the fact +that the situation persisted for as
long as it did. Even if the concerns of junior
staff were not always voiced to the management

at Eros House, they were certainly voiced within

Leeways itself. The response of both Deputy

and Senior Assistant seems  always to have
been to side with Mr Cooper and to defend -his
methods against such criticism. They did not
themselves either criticise his child care

or try to change any of his pfactices by subtle
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o ‘suggestion. Wwhen Jjunior staff did voice their

I_ criticisms elsewhere, they were not supported
i by the Deputy and Senior Assistant, who made
I_ it clear where their 1loyalties lay. In our
- view, by their conduct and attitudes, they
I' failed the children by not putting their in-
Iﬂ ' terests first.
IA] 9.10 One other factor was +hat the “"danger" was
- seen by Mr Cooper and his Deputy and others
l. as coming from sexually precogﬁ:ioﬁs little girls.
'" Such precaﬁtions as were taken, wére to guard
- : against that risk (which, incidentally is viewed
l mainly as a risk to the male staff of a false
5 accusation being made by the girl - not as
l; . a risk to the child). vigilant attention to
l" some known risks can- easily cause blindness
o ~ towards others.
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DID MANAGEMENT KNOW?

Based on our findings at paragraphs 5.17 to
5.20, we are satisfied that by the beginning
of 1978 the then Principél Officer (Childrens)
and Residential Adviser were aware of unaccept-
able behaviour in a Head of Home which had
sexual implications. We do not think that
the evidence suggests that they knew that Mr
Cooper was taking indecent or pornographic

photographs.

As set out above (paragraph 5.19) we are unable

to reach a conclusion as to whether either
the Director of Assistant Director (Residential
Division) was told of these events. If they
were not told, we think that they should have
been, as it would have been fo& the Director
to decide what investigation was necessary.
Our difficulty is that none of the people who
were then in post at Principal Officer 1level
or above appears to have any recollection 6f
these events at all. No records have come

to light. All our evidence for these events

has come‘from.other sources. We consider the.

guestion of whether or not there was a deliberate

cover up in section 13.
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We are particulariy perplexed by the behaviour
of the Principal Officer (1975-8). Apart from
the then Director, he is the only person.wifh

responsibility for Residential Management

whose ability has not been questioned by other

. witnesses. We-feel that he should have pushed

Mr Cooper further and +that the allegations
should have been tied in with the concerns
about his child care. Mr Cooper should at
least have been given a formal warning. We
examine in section 11 the factors which, over
the years, prevented Management from effec-

tively tackling Mr Cooper.

In our view, the then Assistant Officer (Chil-
dren's Residential) is also to be criticised
for not having followed-up the allegation made in
1981 by the trainee that Mr Cooper was a paedo-
phile (paragraph 5.28) bearing inm mind the
concerns which he and others already had about
Mr Cooper's child care practice with its sexual
undercurrents. We think that it should have been

reported at a most senior level and some attempt
made to see if the trainee could substantiate
‘her allegation. At the very least, her percep-
tion might have given them a fresh insight

into Mr Cooper's behaviour and  alerted them

to what was actually -happening.
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WHY WAS MANAGEMENT UNABLE TO TACKLE MR COOPER -

EFFECTIVELY?

We have idéntified a number of conpributing
circumstances, which prevented the management
from doing soO. Ssome are specific to Mr Cooper
and Leeways. Others are not, and in our opinion
would also have\ prevented the management team
from tackling other trauma effectively.

’

Mr Cooper's power base.

This is the main reason given to us why Mr
Cooper was not effectivgly challeﬁged. He
was regarded as having powerful friends. These
included the formidable combination of the
Chair of Social Services Committee, the Social
Case Work pivision, the trade unions and visiting
psychiatrist. It is true that all these people

did fupport ‘Mxr Cooper for different lengths

of time. The myth of their support. persisted’

as a reason for non-action, 1long after it had

ceaséd to be a reality.

We do not think that this consideration would
nave deterred the Director prior to 1982, "had
determined action to remove Mr Cooper been

necessary. Nor. do we think it adequately
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4

i N _

explains the fact that his own managers never

even tried to implement any disciplinary procedures

- .-

to the extent of formal verbal or written warn-
ings until the autumn of 1982, or to collate

the evidence they had to support such action.

]

I”j 11.4 We are not actually convinced that any of the
- ‘ people we have referred to with the possible
Iﬁ exception of the psychiatrist (as *o which
AT‘ see paragraph 10.7) would blindly have
lj supported Mr Cooper had they been confronted

with a convincing case against him, showing

2

i that his care was detrimental to the children's

-well being. This was actually the view of

[
ial

"all his immediate managers from 1975 onwards.

o
it
.

f

11.5 Weaknesses of Residential Management.

ll,

(

Collectively, the Management Team in the Residen-

tial Division was, and in our view, still is,

L

]

convinced of its powerlessness and has a poor

J

L

self image. Power was seen . as residing in

the 'Social Case Work Division, the elected

)]

(

members and the trade unions. Those in Residen-

i)
J

o

tial Management would not engage in a fight

because they feared that they would 1lose.

L
3

4
;

11.6 There is no doubt that throughout the Department

3
i

.

there is considerable tension between the Social

.
J

{

.
wcaiadd




11,7

Case Work and Residential Divisions at all
levels. ‘Social case work regards itself and
is regarded as the elite. All the trends in
child care practice since the late 1960s have
contributed to the undervaluing of residential
care. The +training of residential workers
has lagged behind that of field workers. The
characters of the two Assistant Directors was

#

also a strong contributing factor.

The Assistant Director 'of Residential Services
prior to 1982 had his background in the old

Welfare Service. He remained throughout more

_interested in the work with old people than

in children's work, and his subordinates . knew

it. Their concerns about the guality of Mr-

Cooper's child care fell on deaf ears. He
only really understood the financial aspect of
running the home. Because Mr Cooper did ' that
well, the Assistant Director's view was that
there was no problem, other than Mr Cooper's
excessive overtime ciaims. We think that,
either expressly, or by implication, he told
his subordinates to leave Leeways and Mr Cooper
alone. He was no match for the Assistant.Direc-
tor of the Social Case Work Division, whom
we have already described as a fqrmidable per-

sonality, in Directorate battles.  She was
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rightly seen as a person who fought to get
what she wanted done, and did not mind if she
éot a bloody nose in the process. . We believe
that staff in Social Case Work would have felt
~confident of her support and ability'to sort

out difficult problems, which found no parallel

in Residential Services.

This imbalance between the two Divisions was
further distorted by the relationship which
developed between the Assistant Director for
Social Case Work and the man who was Principal
Officer (Children's) from 1978 until 1984,
His viéws were then seen as being hers, and
her “"power" as having spread to the Residential
Division itself. This pefceptionun&amdmaistill

further the morale of the Residential Division.

'The strength of traae union support for Mr
Cooper has never been put to the test. No
one in Residential Management was able to give
us any actual incidents where their attempts
to discipline someone for bad practice were
blocked ’and frustrated by the unions. They
have a proper role to play in protecting their
members' interests. We believe that many of
their memberg would accep% that if there s

a conflict of loyalties, the  ultimate
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responsibility must be to the children in care.

We believe that fear of the Unions, which are

perceived by Manggementi as more powerful than
they probably are, has provided Management
from about 1979 onwards with an excuse for
evading its own,responsibilities, and seriously
undermines their credibility as an effective

force.

This is linked to ‘certain fundamental misconcep-
tions about employment law about which urgent
education is required. We thought it worthwhile
to obtain Counsel's opinion on some of the
issues raised (see Appendix 2). Management,
in the last resort, does have the right to
sack people for incompetence Or unsuitability,
providing it has tackled the matter systemati-
éally and given its employees an opportunity
to reform and improve theirv performance. We

return to this theme in section 18.

As in many ‘organisations, it is fortuitous
in Lewisham Social Services whether the people
involved in Management have any natural talent

for the post. We consider the quality of manage-

ment training and development in section 20 below.
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12. CURRENT MANAGEMENT PROBLEMS

N R
" ! 7

12.1 As is clear from the foregoing, there have

1 ~ been substantial changes in the Management
| .

; g

Team since 1982. Many people have tried very

l’\ hard to convince us that the responsibili\ty
r for failing to tackle Mr Cooper rests largely
O S . with the previous Management and that he would
l“ : not have been allowed to get away with it with
. the present Management Team and structures.
'TW | We are unable to accept this view. |
Il~ 12.2 We think that there have(been some improvements.
lr] The present Management Team is more accessible
= to junior staff. The staff themselves are
"] better-‘ trained. There is less isolation from
; Eros House, and the Heads of Home have less.
lj ‘ autonomy. Everyone attends fegular meetings
',:-q of some sort. There are weekly Heads of Homes
: meetings. This is perceived by Management at
l‘m Eros House as a very valuable development from
f the previous pattern of menthly meetings. It is
'!“ ‘ o less highly regarded by those who attend them,
- who realise that the meetings have no power
t: toc change anything. staff meetings are also
lf , a regular feature, ‘and staff _are encouraged

to share problems and develop mutual support

b
systems'. we think it un)realistic to believe
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that juniér staff 'with serious doubts about
the behaviour of the Head of Home would be
able to use these meetings to tackle theﬁ.
These meetings do not include the domestic

ctaff. We think that they should. (Para. 16.3).

The Assistant Director is generally well regar-
ded. She has had a lqt to. tackle sinée she
came into post. There has been the review
which has decimated the Residential Child
Care Service, the industrial dispute and the

managerial reorganisation.

Nevertheless the fact remains that the current
Management Team also failed to tackle the problem
of Mr Cooper effectively (see paragraphs 5.24
to 5.27) at a time when there was little
actual reality behind the wvarious "myths" to
which we have referred in section 11.2.

By 1982 he had no real support from the Social
Case Work Division. In May 1983, the Chair
of -Social Services who supported Mr Cooper
was replaced. Despite all this, no action
was taken. Even more extraordinary is( the
fact that Mr Cooper continued to occupy Leeways

for almost a year after the last child left,

and that the domestic staff continued to be

employed for his sole benefit. The reason
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was apparently that Mr Cooper insisted that
his contract required him to work at Leéeeways
and nowhere else. No one seems- to have.pointed
out to him that~if there were no children there,

his Jjob was, in the true sense of the term,

redundant.

In other ways, we consider that the situation
is probably worse than before 1982. The manage-
ment structure of the Department as a whole

has been weakened. There has been no effective

_Director since 1982 and only an Acting Director

since March 1985. The Assistant Director of

Social Case Work has not been replaced since

she left in March 1985. There is no Assistant

Director for Planning and Development.

There is an ovefwhelming lack of managerial
direction. Hardly anyone has clearly defined responsi-
bilities and in consequence, no one is account-
‘able. An important element in this 1is 'fhe

actual and perceived role of the elected members.

Since -1983 the Chair and Vice Chair of Social
Services have played a greater réle in the
dayfto—day running of the Social Services Depart-

ment than was previously the case. ‘Both are
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politically committed to the philosophy that

elected .members should ‘have greater control .

of maﬁage;ial decisions. They meet weekly =
with the (Acting) Director. This is partly a reaction : [
to a feeling that the previous Director (pre 1982) was
not sufficient1§ accountable. It is also under-
standable, given ‘the weakened Management, ‘that .
they should npt'have been confident that their L

policies would be carried out.

12.8 We have to say that this épproach has been, g
w?

and in our view, will continue to be, seriously

detrimental to the development of an effective

Management, which will be able to ‘tackle the P
future Mr Coopers or anything else. The reasons L
are:- '{
i

(i) Management at Eros House is always looking . L
over its shoulder wondering whether i]

its decisions are 'going to be undone L

by the elected members. 3

i

. , P
(ii) Management is able to evade its own h‘
responsibility for action and blame its r

t‘

lack of action on elected members.

o

(iii) We doubt whether anyone of real calibre
will be attracted to the post

— 2 ==
)
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of Director or any Senior Management

post, if they are not permitted to manage.

(iv) Elected members are seldom full time.
It is gquite unrealistic to .think that
they can have more than part-time involve-
ment in some of the numerous decisions

which a department like this has to
take. The risk is not only that they
will burn themselves out and cease to
be able to tackle the responsibilities

which are rightly theirs, but also that

nothing is ever actually achieved.

The delay in completlng the Residential Rev1ew
(a:ﬁmshproposal for this was made in July 1984)

and the reorganisation of the Residential Manage-

ment Serv1ces, is largely due to this inter-

action between the Management and elected members
which prevents. them from achieving
objectives which both agree are desirable.
These reviews have been hanging in the air
for far too long, and have had a ‘devastating
effect on morale. Staff have little confidence
in Management's ability to achieve 'anything:
Management perceives jtself - as powerless 6 and
is so regarded by those whom it hes to menage.

The reorganisations in themselves will contribute
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towards improving the ‘clear delineation of
responsibilities and accountability.

Some of the nmnagement problems are compounded

by the difficulties of long-term planning in

-any 6rganisation where the pblitical perspective

is five years or less. Decisions tend to be

taken on a year to year basis. This has been
high lighted in relation to the Residential
Review where thé "package" originaily envisaged
that funds would be released from the sale
of properties which would be used to improve
the remaining services. This. longer .perspective

has been thwarted by subsequent decisions to

"‘reallocate those funds. The current rate capping

stance by Lewisham also créates uncertainties.
Theupoliticians say public_ly that no se:vices
will be lost. There is not much’ confidence
among the staff that they'will be able to redeem
this pledge if the Government reﬁains intransi-
gent. People feel that their jobs are under

threat, whilst being assured that they are not.

12.11 1In section 20 we - deal with the importance

of individuals being given clear statements
of their responsibilties. We think that the
Residential Division ought to have some method

of deciding its collective aims and objectives

- e

o,
- - . ..

o= r—,

o

[N »

e




[= .

oy

e !
i »
i

71

-~ which should be guidelines for action =~ and

of evaluating its success in aéhieving them.
Similarly, residential homes which are given
a clear task to perform should know what is
expected of them col}gctively and their perfor-

mance as a group should also be assessed.

4 We recommend that the elected members
should urgently consider their proper
role. In our view they shéuld decide
on policy and@ how they want their
objectives carried out. They should
leave the carrying out of jthose policies
to their officers. If those officers
refuse or fail to do so then the
elected members have the power to
discipline and |ultimately dismiss

them.

L We recommend that all those in posi-
tions of management should have clearly
defined responsibilities and be held on
accomnt for the manner in which they

carry out those responsibilities.

q We recommend that the Residential
Care Review and the reorganisation

of the management structure of the
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WAS THERE A COVER-UP? !

We have referred at a number of points to the
absence of any recprd of certain crgcial events
and éohv’ersations. We have considéred whether
their absence was part of a concerted attempt
by Management and/or Mr Cooper to- prévent what

was known a;:out Mr Cooper from coming to light.

We consider in the following section the whole
questﬁ;on of record-keeping. It is clear that
the present system is seriously flawed. The
filing system of the Residential Division is
different from the central filing system, and
appears to exist to store information, not
to retrieve it. It is at least as likely in
our view that wvital information got "lost™
or destroyed innocently, as that it was done

deliberately.

- There are two main points at .which Management

might have organised a cover-up. One is 1978
when the 5 junior staff made their camplaints. (Paras 5.17
- 19). Their only motive for doing so would have been
to prevenf a scandal. On the other hand, it
was very much in their interests, if Mr Cooper
was not "warned off" to have a record of the

evidence which they had and the action they
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had taken. We do not think that there was a

cover-up at that time.

We have also considered whether there was“an,,

attempt to destroy relevant material which

would have embarraésed the Department, between

" Mr Cooper's arrest and the setting up of the

independent inquiry. We have concluded that
there was not. We believe that those who have
said publicly that the Council did not know
about Mr Cooper's activities, genuinely believed

t+hat that was the case, \

Tn either case, if there was such a cover=up,

"we believe that it has proved ineffective because

we have received reliable evidence about the

key events from other sources.

Has there  been a cover-up by Mr Cooper? On

“his own admission he destroyed some confidential

documents . in the fire in the garden at Leeways

in 1983 (para. 5.35). We do not know what they were. It

is our view, however, that Mr Cooper was much
too wily to record damaging material in the
first place, and would therefore have had no
need to destroy aamagipg maiérial which was

recorded.
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RECORD KEEPING

N

(See also paragraph 13.2 above.) Lewisham
appeared to adopt an "all or nothing" approach
to record keeping. We could not | help
contrasting the voluminous nature of the
files kept on the children and their families
with the paucity of the staff records.  Indeed
it requiréed considerable detective ability
to work out from the files that some of the
staff were actually at Leeways at all! Similar
skills were required by the Department in order
to reply to our reguest for the names of the
people who had been employed at Leeways over
the years since records are not kept of the’

establishments.

4 We recommend that the Council estabii—
shes a uniform policy of record keep-
ing. ‘This system should ensure that
trivia is separated from important
information; that, where possible,
records are typed, and that there
are clear guidelines about when
documents should be removed and des-
troyed. It should also ensure that
information is readily accessible

to those who need it.
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One important aspect so far as the events at
Leeways are concerned was the failure of the
system of/ collecting and recording, information
to collate the concerns Qf parents, social
workers and the residential team. As we have
indicated we think that the Management Team
in this case had sufficient evidence to at
least. issue formal warnings to Mr Cooper but
in other cases, the collation of all relevant

information may be crucial.

At the present time, the policy of the Council
is not to record verbal warnings on a person's

file.

g We recommend that verbal warnings
should be recorded, if not in relation
to all employees, at least in relation
to those in Social Services. We
also think that allegations of bad
practice should be recorded on the
personal file, together with the |
employeek answers to the verbal warning

or allegations.

This recommendation is linked to our considera-
tion of staff training and assessment and should
be read. in conjunction with sections 18 and

20 below.

1
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There is a widespread misconception within
management that matters cannot be recorded
on the personal file because the empibyees
have access to the file and might sue for 1libel.
It is not 1libellous to state the truth, even
if it is defamatory. These files are probably
the subject of qualified privilege, which would
protect the maker and receiver of such statements
if they were defamatory and untrue, provided
that they were not made maliciously. In some
cases there might not even be a "publication"
for the purposes of the law of 1libel. This
is a matter which the Council's own Legal Depart-
ment could usefully clarify. We think that the risk
of unfounded actions for 1libel being brought
ought not to weigh in the scales agdinst an
open and accurate system of record keeping
which is seen as paft of a fair process of

assessment and development of staff.
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COMPLAINTS AND COMPLAINANTS

One of the problems in bringing events 1like

this to 1light is that the ‘people most likely N

to have relevant information are the people

jeast likely to be listened to:-

- junior staff and domestics

- children

- parents, usually those parents who are

always complaining about something!

We have tried to consider what measures, if
any, might increase their willingness to voice
such complaints and the willingness of Management

to listen.

Junior staff and domestics

We have set out in some detail (paragraphs
5.8, 5.11; 5.15 to 5.18) the way in which the
junior staff who complained at different times’
were actually dealt with. We  think that they
were treated appallingiy and that it is quite
‘deplorable that they were all allowed to feel
that they had to leave. We think it probable
that junior staff will continue to be inhibited
about complaining for fear of getting bad ‘re-

ferences, no promotion oOr being dismissed.
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There is a further practical problem.. It is
almost impossible to secure any privacy for
complainants at Eros House. The structure
and layout. of the building, and the lack of
adequate facilities ensure that the presence

of anyoné at Eros House 'is almost inevitably

public knowledge.

As we have indicated (paragraph 12.2) we think
that there have been changes which would make
‘staff more willing to approach management about
similar problems, with more confidence that
they would be listened to. As we have highligh-
ted in section 12 , we do not think that they
‘have much confidence that anything would actually
be done about such complaints! some -vital
pieces of evidence to our ingquiry have 'come

from the domestic staff.

g We recommend that domestic staff
should, wherever possible, attend

staff meetings.

1 Those who make complaints should
be told by management what action
has been taken to deal with their

complaint, or if no action was taken,

why not.
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ffroper reception facilities should
be established at Eros House or else-
where, 4to ‘try and ensure privacy
for those who wish to discuss matters
in confidence. Resources may need

to be provided for this.

The children

We deal with this aspect in sections .6, 7 and

B.6 to 8 above. We have also considered the
suggestion put to us Dby some witnesses tha£
there should be .a visiting "friend" who comes
on a voluntary basis and whose Vréle would be
to get to know the children and be a trusted:

adult in whom they could confide. Bearing

in mind that the children coming into residential

care are generally older than those who were

in Leeways, we'have concluded on balance, that

this is not aésirable. The child's initial

confidant should be the Residenﬁial Care Worker
responsible for him or her. That Residential
Worker should make it clear to the child that
his or her Social Worker is the person to whom
the child should turn in the event of a breakdown
in +the relationships within the children;s

Home.

15.5 Thé particular problem in Leeways, of course,
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was that the childrén were very young. Most
children in residential care are now older
and more able to articulate complaints. We
understand that consideration is being given
to develéping a complaints procedure for children

in care. We would support this.

If a child gets to the stage of making allega-
tiéns of child abuse, including éexual abuse;
it may be that use could be made’of.the Council's
own child abuse procedure to handle such com-
plaints. We have insufficient information

+to .make a clear recommendation about this,

but it does deserve consideration.

g We reéommend that consideration be
given to establishing a complaints
procedure for children in care.
We do not think it advisable for
a special person to visit the Home

to become the children's “friend”.

The parents

~

‘'We think that realistically parents are not
likely to have their complaints listened to.
Complaints by parents about child care practice
at Leeways would not have been 1listend to,

because Mr Cooper would always have had a




plausible explanation, usually a "good" child
care one, for ‘his actions. Many parents, having
handed over their children to the "experts”
are hesitant and unsure of their ground, if
they feel that something is wrong. Other parents
are easily- laSelled és_ "always complaining”
and not listeﬁed to for that reason. Generally
there is an uﬁwillingness to acknowledge .that;
however 1little general expertise in child care
such parents may have, even inadeéuate parents
often have an "expert" 1level of knowledge of
their own child's behavious and temperament.

Professionals ought to 1listen more carefully

to parents' complaints.

] We recommend that parents should
be directed to the people responsible
for taking action if they do have

complaints.

[

Csenmans?
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OTHER ASPECTS OF COHHUNICATION

Many people had concerns about - Mr Cooper (see

sections 5 and paragraph 8.4) which did

not reach the Residential Division. The tension

to which we have referred between the‘Residential
and Social Case Work Divisions (paragraph 12.6)
and the hierarchical structure of the Department,
which does not at any level below Assistant
Director allow "sideways" communication, goth
contributed to this. information would be
passed by a Social Worker to his or her senior
and possibly thereafter "up the line". The
Social Worker had no way of communicat%ng that

information directly to the proper quarter.

There is in any event (see paragraph 14.2 )

‘no way at present in which the information

would be collated and this is a serious flaw.
We have also ‘considered the question of the
extent to which it is possible or desirable
to collate people's"feelings" about other indivi-
duals, their unease or suspicions. We have
no doubt that many of the people we have seen
had that sort of unease about Mr Cooper which

in the event proved to have been well-founded.

. This was often instinctive and there was nothing

definite that they could point to as evidence
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to substantiate their feelings. Nevertheless,

these were the people who were "not surprised”

by Mr Cooper's arrest, and for whom things
"fell into place". In other cases,. such sus-
picions may be no more than prejudice and could
be seripusly damaging to the indiyidual concer~
ned. We think that it is probably impracticable
to organise a system which could fairly record
such information. We are also concerned that
to try and do so would undermine any trust
between workers which in itself could result

in poorer quality child care.

We think it essential, however, for all‘staff,
especially Jjunior staff, to be aware of ‘an
appropriate person Or organisation with whom

to discuss matters of concern about their imme-

‘diate superior. Residential staff need a link

with someone outside the Home, a person in
whom they can have trust that their cénfidence
would not be broken. This may be -a proper
réle for the trade unions and professional
associations, and we think these bodies _have
a résponsibility to ensure that staff are aware

of this facility. In our view (paragraph 12.2)

the current management have made improvements'

in this area. However, so©O far as we are aware,

they have not yet been called upon to deal
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with a complaint by a Jjunior member of staff
against a Head of Home whom they themselves
had helped to appoint and in whom they had
complete confidence. We wonder how much "open-
ness" to possible criticism there actuglly

would be in that event.

| We consider that it is part of proper
staff development that they should
be told about the channels of complaint
and the persons whom they should

consult.

q We recommend that there should be
within the Department clear guidance
about who is responsible for dealing
with different complaints. staff
should be 'encouraged to take matters
directly to that person, as well
as discussing it with their own mana-

ger.
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RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION

We +think it is unrealistic to believe that

it is possible entirely to prevent unsuitable

people from being employed in child care.- That

does not mean that recruitment procedures should

not attempt to minimise the chances of that

happening, merely that on their own they cannot

succeed.

Given the state of the residential services
in 1966, we do not think that Lewisham'\can
be criticised for employing Mr Cooper, oOr for
its recruitment procedures at that time (see
paragraph 5.2).  They made all the available
checks. Mr Cooper had no convictions. We
have no reason to believe that his previous

employers supressed information which they

should have passed on, suggesting that Mr.

Cooper's interest in the children in his care

was unhealthy.

It h@s peen forcibly put to us that the present
recruitment policies and procedﬁres make it
less rather than more 1likely that unsuitable
people will be weeded out at interview. We

have seen the present recruitment manual,
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introduced in 1984. This was'prepared by Central
Personnel Division without consultation with
the large Departments such as Social Services,
which have their own Eersonnel Section. There
is a feeling that the procedures do not meet
the speciai needs of the Department when inter-

viewing 'applicants for residential posts.

We should make it clear that this criticism

has not been directed towards 'the Council's

. Equal Opportunities Policy. It is the Council's.

policy to employ homosexuals in residential
child care posts, provided that their sexuality
does not interfere with their work. It has

not been suggested to us that this policy should

' be changed, except by those who automatically

equate homosexuality with indecent behaviour
with small boys. Many of the people who encoun-
tered Mr Cooper believed- that he  was a homo-

sexual. Knowledge of the Council's employment

.policy did contribute towards the reluctance

of some of them to challenge Mr Cooper;s posi-

tion. This was marginal.

y We do not recommend any change in the

Council's Equal Opportunities policy.
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similarly, it has been suggested to us that only

 married couples should be employed as Heads of

17.6

Homes. Whilst this might qontribute'to a reduc-
tion in sexual misbehaviour, it is no guarantee
that other forms of child abuse would not occur,
and indeed might 1lull employers and others into

a false sense of security.

| We do not recommend that only married

couples be employed in child care.

We do not accept much of the.criticism which has
been made of the recruitment manual. There is
understandable resentment in Social Services
about the fact that. they were not .consulted
about it, which was obviously unsatisféétory.
The guidelines do seek to establish a more
systematic approach to evaluating the candidates

for a job. The problem is that they have been

. interpreted as providing rigid rules, rather

than aé the adaptable guidelines they were
intended to  be. The training programme for
those who are to use the manual has also hardly
begun. There also needs to be urgent discussion
about each group's recruitment needs, and how

the manual can best be used to meet those needs.
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the manual can best be used to meet those needs.

| We recommend that the training pro-
‘gramme for use of thé 'recruitmént
manual be speeded up and»that urgent
discussion take place about the fe-
c;uitment needs of the various Depart-
ments and how the manual can best

be adapted to meet them.

17.7 We think that the Social Services do have ‘a

legitimate concern. Paragraph 12.8 of the

recruitment manual provides:-

"candidates must be judged solely
on the evidence before the selectors
of the candidate's ability to do the
job in question.™

Where complex human relationships are concerned,

a candidate's suitability to do the job 1is

at least as important as his or her ability.
This is particularly important when considering
those who are expected to provide a very higb
level of chi1d care, especially in a residential
setting. This consideration appears. to be
Jexcluded by paragraph 12.8 of the recruitment
manual. We think that there are arguments

for saying that special considerations should

apply.
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Recruitment still depends .heavily on interview
and references. We deal at paragraph 19.8
below with the involvement of elected members
in interviews. We think that the manual contains
much useful advice about how interviews should
be conducted, provided two cruciél ‘matters

are borne in mind:

(i) that a good interview is one in which

the maximum information passes - both

ways and

(ii) that it is not questions which are disecri-
minatory, but how the answers are dealt

with.

'1 We’reCOmmend that urgent consideration
be given to whether or not the recruit-
ﬁent manual requires modification
in order to reduce the chances of

unsuitable people being employéd.

.9 We recommend that those interviewing
for jobs in child care should be
permitted to ask questiﬁns directed
towards a candidate's suitability

for such employment.
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When taking up references, Lewisham do not
specificaliy ask whether anything is known
about a candidate which would make him or her
unsuitable to work in child care. We have
seen such reguests from other London Borougﬁs

seeking references from Lewisham. We appreciate

that the chances of information coming to light
in this way may be quite small, but it would

seem to be an-elementary precaution.

Although checking a candidate's convictions
would not have prevented the employment of
of Mr Cooper, since he had none, our inquiry has revealed

a number of flaws in the system by which this is done.

(i) It is Council policy not to enquire
about convictions which are - "spent"

under the Rehabilitation of Offenders

Act 1974 notwithstanding that Jjobs in
child care are exehpt from its provisions.-
It has recently been proposed that this
could be changed, and we agree that

it should be.

(ii) Enquiry is usually made of the D.H.S.S.
whether anything is known about a candi-

date which makes him or her wunsuitable




9

|

17.11 We

be separatea from their subsequent assessment

92

for employment in child care. This has
hitherto been regarded by Lewisham as
a reliable vetting mechanism. It clearly
is not. The D.H.S.S. only record convic-
tions against those who, at- the time

of conviction are or were in child care

work. So far as matters other than convic-
tions are concerned, the system depends

heavily on local authorities and voluntary

. organisations passing on information

about candidates who may be unsuitable.

We recommend that enquiries should

be made as to whether or not. a .

candidate for child care employment
has "spent"” convictions, oOr is
otherwise unsuitable for employment

in child care.

We recommend that, if possible,
Lewisham, together with other local
authoritiés should press for all
relevant information to be collated
by the D.H.S.S. particularly records

of convictions.

.

do not think that recruitment of staff can
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and development, and this sectioﬁ should be

read in conjunctioﬁ with sections 18 and 20

below.-
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18. JOB DESCRIPTIONS, ASSESSMENT AND CONFRONTATION

18.1 As we have indicated, we think that, on appoint-

ment every employee concerned in the care of

children should be given}

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

A clear statement of his or her job

description and re.sqof\s‘\b\\)'x*'\e.s

A statement of the Authority's statutory
duty to sSafeguard and promote the welfare

of the children in its care, and its

wish to provide “the highest possible

quality of care and that the responsi-

bility of its employees is to place

the interests of those children first

and foremost.

\
A statement that an employee is liable
to be dismissed in the event that his
or her personal 1life seriously impairs
his or her ability to care for the children
or his or her charge or makes an employee
unsuitable to do so, or if he or she
is unable competently to perform his
or hér duties, thereby preventing the
Council from carrying out its statutory

obligation to the children in its care.
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(iv) An adeguate description of the organisa-

tions's structure and his or her. role

within it.

(v) A statement that all employees are expec-
ted to take part in appropriate training
and development programmes provided

by the employer.

The receipt and understanding of these documents
by the employee and the incorporation of them‘
into thé terms of employment should be acknowled-
ged in writing by the employee on appointment.
Any subseguent changes to any of these state-
ments, which‘agfect the nature of the job which
he or she is employed to do should be similarly

acknowledged.

These conditions of employment should be linked
to a proper training programme (see section
26) to encourage the development of
the skiils necessary for the employee to carry

out his or her duties.

The- pfogress and performance of staff should
be regularly monitored and assessed by their

Managers. If there are problems these should

\
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_be tackled at an early stage. We believe that

this is an important aspect of effeétive manage-
ment. It seems to us that there fs a general
reluctance to confront staff who are not perform-
ing adequately with the criticisms which are
made. We'have indeed highlighted this as one
of the'major reasons why Mr Cooper was allowed
to continue unchecked for as long as ‘he did.
in conseguence, staff are not given a proper
oﬁportunity to improve, and there is a general
feeling that criticisms are made "behind your

back". There is no reason why weakness cannot

pe dealt with informally in the first instance.

The Council is at present’ revising its formal
disciplinary procedures. As: stated (paragraph
15.3 ) we think that verbal warnings and
the .employee's responses should be recorded,
as well as written warnings. Provided that
disciplinary procedures are operated fairly,
unsatisfactory employees  can be dismissed,
{See Appendix 2.) We think that the right
to dismiss an employee who, despite proper
training, is unable or unwilling to improve
his or her performance is aﬁ essential safeguard
if children are to be properly cared for.
This is an important corollary to the present

recruitment policies  which allow only limited

I3
g |




b e ” [ S
i

|t

N N ..
[R— |

[N A [ o i

N Bt B |
; : r : : :
e ] A i

LY

investigation into a candidate's personal circum-

stances.
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We recommend that all employees whose
personal life seriously impairs their
ability to care for thé children
in their charge or makes them unsuitable
to do so or who are unable competently
to perform their duties and thefeby
prevent the Council from carrying
out its statutory obligations to
children in its care should, subject
to prober procedural safeguards,

be dismissed.

We recommend that all employees are
given the documents detailed in para-
graph 18.1 above and that those docu-
ments should be incorporated into

the terms of employment.

We recommend that the progress and
perférmance of staff should be regu-
lé}ly " monitored and assessed and
they should be confronted with any

cfiticisms so as to enable them to

improve their performance. This is

linked to our recommendatioﬁ that there

98
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should be a corresponding duty on the
Local Authority to provide proper

training and development opportunities.
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THE ELECTED MEMBERS

Elected members have a statutoryyduty to ensure
that children's homes are visited once per
month. This duty is contained in Regulation

2 of the Administration of Children's Homes

Regulations 1951 which provides:-

" (i) The administering ,authbrity shall make
arrangements for the Hoﬁe to be visited/
at least once in every month by a person
who shall satisfy himself whether the
Home is conducted in the interests of
the weéllbeing of the children and shall
feport to the administering authority
upon his visit and shall enter in the
record book referrea to in paragraph

3 of the Schedule hereto his name and

the date of his visit.

(ii) Where the administering authority is
a Local Authority the arrangements shall
secure that the person visiting is a
member of the Children's Cdﬁmiftee of
the Local Apthority [now the Social
S.ervices Committee], a member of a sub-
éommittee established by that committee
or such officer or one of such officers

of the Local Authority as may be
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designated by the arrangemenfs."

The practice in 'Lewisham has been that these .

. T . 7

visits are carried out by the elected members [{I
4

- themselves and have not been delegated to an

officer. At present these are not being carried

out with any regularity. Previously,. visits ﬁ'

were organised on a rota. PeriOd-ically, 'tﬁere L

would be a drive to encourage membefs to visit ' E'

- and for a time they would do so. 'I_‘hen the -
VlSltS would tail off again. On average, less Jl

than hal:E of the rota visits were marked as. *3.

naving taken place. Most of the v:.s:.ts were s

made without prior appointment. ' @'
19.2 Guidelines for the visits were produced about @l

6 or7 years ago. They do provide realistic gui-

g
Kgfuamommacel

dance for the members as to the checks which

they can be expected to make. These guidelines

-

do not seem toO be in current use, nor are . the

.
J
N

Officers responsible for the management of

‘residential homes aware of their existence e

‘ or contents. Cards were provided for those ul
members with nothing to report .to record the . @l
fact of their visit. Some members chose to |
write about matters drawn to their attention, : @l

usually matters of maintenance and repair.

-y
[

All the evidence we have received suggests
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that such matters are the ones most likely
to be taken up by members. We found two instan-
ces where mémbers complained that the§ had
been treated in a perfunctory way by Mr Cooper
and had not felt able to carry out their duty
propefly. On each of these occasions, Mr
Coober had an explanation which was passed

back to the member concerned.

The value of such visits has obviously .been
a matter of concern to and discussion among
members over the years. It is felt that they
are not as valuable as they might be. If the
rotas are organised so that members visit only
mnce’ or twice per year, it is difficult for
them to get to know the staff or the children
or to form moreﬁ than a superficial\ impressioh
of the way the Home is run. On the other hand,
if a group of members visit the same Home regu-
larly they may be sucked into the ethos of

a particular Home and become less critical

than they should be in their -judgments.

Leeways appears to ’havé had a combination of
both forms of visit over the years (see paragraph
5.6 ). Neither Srought’to light Mr Cooper's
behaviour, nor do we think that they’ could

reasonably be expected to do so. We are unable




103

to suggest any way in which these visits could

be organised so as to make it more likely that

elected members would be alerted to such matters.

We believe that part of their role may be nega- El
tive - to bear :an mind that time spent answering ,§
members' inquiries may distract staff from ' JI
carrying out their other duties. Similarly, ”’gl
the belief that matters of maintenance etcetera -
will be taken up by elected members may enab}le E
those responsibler for ensuring that such work s
is carried out to evade their proper responéi- le
bilities. : ;l
We do not think that the statutory obligations H'
imposed can simply be iénored, as appears to ;
be the case at present. It may be considered \f.
that they -could appropriately be delegated | 8]
to officers in accordance with Regulation 2(2). Jl
On the other hand, it does seem to us that Fa‘
if the members have-clearlyz in their minds that | .
their duty is to satisfy themselves that the U'
Home "“is conducted in the interests of the 2}
wellbeing of the <children" they can bring L}I
a different perspective to that task from that ’ fﬂ'
of the officers. We believe, fpr example, .
that in carryingb out these' visits;':the members ‘82'
could ensure that the policies of the Social -
Services Committee are being carried out in . L}I

A
n
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children's homes. Their reports should go to

the Director and the Director should reply.

19.6 We' pelieve that the Social Services Committee
has an important role to play in ensuring that
when matters of general policy are considered
by the full Council or by other Committees
which have implicatiéns for Social Services
they should unite to "fight the Social Services'
corner". It may be that this already happens
to a greater extent than has been revealed
to our enqguiry. We do feel that conscious
efforts need to be made by elected members
and the Department to increase -mutual trust and
confidence, and the feeling that lthey were
fighting on the same side on. some issues might

help this process.

19.7 We consider at paragraphs 12.7 to 12 .8 above,
the role of elected members generally in the

management of the Department.

19.8 So far as recruitment is concerned (see section
17) " wve think that elected members are
involved at far too low a level. It is purely
fortuitous if they have any expertise in intef—
viewing or recruitment. Very few ‘appear’ to

have been trained in the use of the Recruitment
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Manual or in interviewing technigues.

We recommend that "training in the

“use of the Recruitment Manual and

interviewing techniques should be

made available to Councillors.
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20.1

20.2

20.3
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF STAFF

The Social Services Department has an adequate
training budget, but in our view does not make

the best use of the resources it has available.

For historical reasons, the training in the
Social Case Work Division has become separated
ffom the training of theﬁrest of Social Services.
The post of Residential Child Care Training
Officer was ' created about two years ago but
has never been filled. It is our view that
Social Services should have its own training
section, with its own budget, which is\responsible
for all training within the 'Social Serviceé
Department in order to make 'éhe best use of

available resources.

g We recommend that this integration
of training sections within the Social
Services Department should take place

as soon as possible.

At the present time, training at all levels
is equated with "going on courses”. Training
(other than obtaining professional gualifica-
tions), therefore tends to take place in something
of a vacuum and it is a matter of chance whether

it enables an individual to develop appropriate
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skills for the job which he or she is employed
to do. There is no system for training staff
adeguately ‘in the management skills required
for the next level of responsibility. It is
particularly difficult to organise residential
staff to go on courses, and can be wasteful

of resources as adequate cover has to be avail-

able during their absence.

There is no realisation within the Residential
pivision that the development and training
of staff is thé responsibility of their immediate
managers. We think that the only way to effect
a real improvement in the overall gquality of
staff training and development is . for each
manager to become responsible for ﬁhe training
of his or own staff and to be accountable for

seeing that this is done.

The role of the Training Officers would then

be:

(i) To enable managers to carry out their

training role.

(ii) To act as consultants to managers and

the Service in general.
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(iii) Where they themselves have teaching
skills they should  be encouraged to

use them for in-house training.

(iv) ' To supervise trainees on qualifying

courses and

(v) To administer the training within the

Department.

Supervision of Heads of Homes has been the
responsibility of the Residential Adviser.
This post is purely advisory as the Adviser
has no management function. As we have indica-
ted (paragraph 5.24), " this caused some
problems in dealing with Mr Cooper. Under
the proposed reorganisation this post- would
become an executive one, and we approve of

this development.

There was a lack of proper supervision of Mr
Cooper in the sense of someone with whom he
was willing to discuss problems and matters
of concern. To some extent this was  because
of a clash of personalities between him and
the Residential Adviser from 1980 onwards,
but it was also because there was no expectation

or requirement when Mr Cooper was employed
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‘that he would receive such supervision. In

our view, this expectation, which we see as

part of proper staff training and development,
should be clearly stated when people are em-.

ployed. (See paragraph 18.1).

The way in which such supervision is carried
out at present leaves much to be desired. It
may take place in the residential homes, but
usually takes pléce at Eros House. It can
be either individual or in small groups. In
either event, the facilities at Eros House

are quite inadequate to ensure the appropriate

degree of privacy. Usually, the Principal

Officer has to vacate his room, as this is
the only suitable place for such supervision
to take place. ‘The ‘sessioﬁé usually 'last an
hour and take place irregularity. The quality
of the supervision given in those circumstances
seems to us to be guestionable. The perception
of the Eurreﬁt supervisory process, as put to us
by some of the staff supervised, is of one way
communication by the Residential Adviser. Whether
or not this is objectively true, supervision per-
ceived in this way does not seem to .us to be ful-
filling its properffunction.

q We recommend that training and develop-

ment of staff becomes the responsi-
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bility of their immediate manager
who should be accountable for seeing

that this is properly carried out.

9§ We recommend that the present patterﬂ

of providing supervision within the
Residential Divisioh be reconsidered
and improved. Such supervision should
be seen .as part pf‘ a proper staff

training and develbpment brogramme.

Wé have referred to the isolation and lack
of training of the basic grade staff as contri-
butory factors in the fgilure to bring Mr
pooper's behaviour to light. As set out in
paragraph 18.1, C we afe of the view that
new staff should' have tﬁe structure of the
organisation and their contacts within it made
clear to them on appointment. At present there
is no induction training. It was discontinued
in the autumn of 1984 and in our view should
be reinstated. There is now more mobility
of staff and we think that staff should be
encouraged to be more mobile for their own

development, consistent with the need to provide

continuity of care.

20.10 There is still little opportunity for "sideways"




communication =~ for staff in children's

homes to meet each other and exchange experiences

(see section 16 ).

should be encouraged.
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We recommend that induction training

in some form be reinstated as soon

as possible.

We recommend that staff should be
encouraged to be more mobile for
their own development, cohsistent

with the need to provide continuity of

care.. and contact with staff in

other homes should be encouraged.

We feel that this
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PRINCIPAL CONCLUSIONS

That Mr Cooper was able to remain undetected for
as long as he did because he did not intend to be
found out and was able to manipulate a defective
system to his advantage. Some of his bad child
care practices within Leeways made it easier for
him both to commit the offences and remain

undetected. (Section 9)

That none of the staff at Leeways knew what was
going on although some of them ought to have

realised. (Section 9)

‘That at least from 1978 onwards, Mr Coopef's

immediate superiors were: aware of unacceptable
behaviour in a Head of Home which had sexual

implications. (Section 5.17 to 5.19, section 10)

‘That over the same period Management failed to

tackle Mr Cooper about the allegations of bad
child care practice for reasons which do not

stand up to scrutiny. (Sections 11 and 12)

That, given the multiple weaknesses in the system
which we have identified, many of which wéfe not
specific to Leeways, anyone who was sufficiently
determined could have got away with even more

serious misvpehaviour. It is remarkable that

St




much worse thingé did not happen.

That the situation has improved in some ways but

not fast enough. Radical changes in organisation
3

and attitudes need to be made to effect any real

improvement. This is not mainly a question either

of money or of organisation structure. (Section

12)

That, at almost every point at which collectively
or individually the people involved had to choose
between making the welfare of the children the
first consideration, and some conflicting loyait§
or priority, they chose the latter. They did so
not from malice or deliberate wickedness, but
because they did not keep in the forefront of
their minds their statutory obligation to the

children in their care.
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PRINCIPAL RECOMMENDATIONS

We recommend that:

Organisation and Structure

1.

The elected members should urgently consi-
der their proper role in the Department.
In our view they should decide policy, and
how they want their objectives carried
out. They should leave the carrying out of
those policies to their officers. 1f those
officers refuse or fail to do so, then
they have the power to discipline and
ultimately to dismiss, them. (Paragraphs

12.7 to 12.9)

211 those in positions of management
should have clearly defined responsibili-
ties and be held to account for the manner
in which they carry out those responsibi-

lities. (Section 12)

The TResidential Care Review and the
reorganisation of the Management'structure
of the Residential Division should be

implemented as soon as possible. (Section

12).
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staff Development

4.

All eﬁployees should be given, on appoint-
ment, a . clear Jjob description ané a
statement of their résponsibilitiés toge-
ther with the other documents detailed in
paragraph 18.1 and that those should be

incorporated into the terms of employment.

The progress aﬁdv performance of staff
should be regularly monitpred and assessed
and they should be confronted with any
criticisms so as to enable them to improve
their performance. This is linked to our
recommendations that there should be a
corresponding duty on the employef to
provide proper training and development

opportunities. (Section 18)

Employees whose personal life seriously
impairs their . ability to care for the
-children in their charge or makes them
unsuitable to do so or who are unable
competently to perform their duties and
thereby prevent the Council from carrying
out its statutory obligations to children
in its care should, subject to proper
procedufal safeguards, be dismissed.

(Section 18)
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Verbal as well as written warnings should
be recorded, 'if not in relation to
employees generally at least in relation
to those in Social Services. Allegations
of bad practice should also be recqrded on
the personal file together with employee's
answers to the warning or allegation.

(Paragraph 14.3)

The integration of the training sections
within Social Services should take place

as soon as possible. (Paragraph 20.2)

Management should accept that it has a
duty to provide proper opportunities for
staff training and development. (Sections

18 and 20)

Training and development of staff should
be the responsibility of their managers
who should be accountable for the way in
which they carry out this responsibility.

(Section 20)

The present pattern of providing supervi-
sion within +the Residential Division
should be reconsidered and improved. Such

supervision should be seen as part of
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proper staff training and development.

(Section 20)

Induction. training in some form should be
reinstated as soon as possible. (Section

20)

Dealing with complaints

13.

14'

15.

16.

As part of proper staff development, staff
should be told about the channels. of
complaint . and whom they should consult.

(Section 16)

There should be clear guidance within the
Department about who is responsible for
dealing with different complaints. Staff
should be encouraged ¢to take matters
directly to that  person, as well ias
discussing it with their own ménager.

A

(Section 16)

Those who make complaints should be told
by Management what action has been taken
to deal with their complaint,/ or if no

action was taken, why not. (Section 15)

Proper reception facilities should be

established at Eros House or elsewhere, to
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try and ensure privacy for those who wish

to discuss matters in confidence. (Section

15)

17. Domestic staff should, wherever possible
attend staff meetings. (Paragraph 15.3)
v
18. Parents with complaints should be direc-
ted, where appropriate, to the pefson with
respohsibility for dealing with that com-

plaint. (Paragraph 15.7)

19. Consideration be given to establishing a
complaints procedure for children in care.
We do not think it advisable for a special
person to visit the home to become the

children's "friend". (Paragraph 15.4)

Departmental Records

20. The Council should establish a uniform
policy of :ecord keeping. This system
-should énsure that ‘trivia is separated
from important information; that, where -’
possible, records are typed; and that
there are clear guideliﬁes about when
documents should be removed and destroyed.
It should also ensure that the information

is readily accessible to those who need



it. (Paragraph 14.1}

Recruitment and Selection of Staff

21.

22.

23.

24.

The training programme in the use of the
Recruitment Manual should be speeded up
and that urgent discussion should take
place about the recruitment needs.of the
various Departments and how the Manual can
best be adapted to meet them. (Paragraph

17.6)

Urgent consideration be given to whether
or not the ‘recruitment manual reguires
modification in order to- reduce the
chances of unsﬁitable people being em-

ployed. (Paragraph 17.7 - V1. 8)

Those interviewing for jobé in child care
should be permitted to ask gquestions
directed towards a candidate's suitability

for such employment. (Paragraph 17.8)

Enquiries should be made as to whether or
not a candidate for child care employment
has "spent" convictions or is otherwise
unsuitéble for employment in child care.

(Paragraph 17.10)
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If possible, Lewisham should press,
together with other Authorities for all
relevant information to be collated by the
D.H.S.S. ébout candidates for employment.

(Paragraph 17.10)

Training in the use of the Recruitment
Manual and interviewing techniques should
be made available to elected members.

(Section 19)

Miscellaneous

27.

28.

A programme be implemented to enable
residential‘wofkers to detect child abuse,
iﬁcluding sexual abuse, ana to provide
children with appropriate information to
help them to protect themselves. Addi-
tional 'resﬁurces might . be necessary to

fund such a programme.  (Section 8)

Staff should be encouraged to be more
mobile for their own deve;opment, consis-
tent with the need to provide‘continuity
of care and contact with staff in other

homes should be encouraged. (Section.20)

We do not recommend:




29.

30.
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Any change in the Council's policy of

. egual opportunities. (Pa;agraph .4)

That only married couples be employed in

"child care.
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STRUCTURE OF RESIDENTIAL DIVISION (CHILDREN)
- ‘ - 1971 to 1982

Director

Deputy Director

_

Assistant Director Assistant Director Assistant Director
(Community Development) (Residential Services) (social Casework)
. )
Principal Officer Principal Officer Other Principal
(Planning & Development) (Children's) . Oofficers
L e I . N
Assistant Officer Assistant Officer Residential
(Administration) (Children's) Adviser
Residential

APPENDIX 1

"staff Development
Officer
(Residential)
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APPENDIX 2

IN THE MATTER OF THE LONDON BOROUGH _OF LEWISHAM

SOCIAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT

1.

ADVICE

I am asked to advise on certain points which
arise in relation to the Council's employment

of a House Parent at a Children's Home 1in

Bromley.

The first question concerns the extent to which
a House Parent can insist upon remaining in
office at the particular Children's Home at
which he or she has worked, in the event of
that Home ceasing to have any children. The
essential point is "Can the Local Authority
insist that the House Parent in such circumstan-
ces works elsewhere?" My advice on this point
is on the general position in employment law.
I do not know the statutory context in which
the Home was set up and I do not know if there
are any Regulations which alter or affect the

{

generalilaw.




In general, an emploYer can only reguire an
employee to work at more than one place if
there is an express OrI implied term in the
contract of employment which allows for this

- a "mobility clause". (See O'Brien v Associated

Fire Alarms’ Limited [1969] 1 All ER 93 ‘C.A.)

I have seen some of the documents relevant

to the contract of employment in question.

In particular the Jjob appliéation form stated

that the ™title of the post" was "House Parent

- in-charge (Class I) 17 Edward Road, Bromley,

Kent". The Applicant's letter of acceptance
describes the post in identical terms, as indeed
does the letter confirming the appointment.
These vital contractual documents seem clearly
to treat the address at which the job was to
be performed as part of the job description.
I note that the Jjob was a residential appoint-
ment. Subject to one caveat which I mention
below, I +take the view that the contraét of.
employment did not provide for the House Parent
to work at different places as required, but
was limited to the position at 17 Edward Road.
‘The caveat is this: in thé letter of confirmation
there is a reference to "... any rules fo;mulated
by the Couﬂcil from time to time and to the
general conditions of service as laid down

by the {former London County Council Interim
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panel, a copy of which may be seen at this
office ...". These rules and conditions are
thereby incorporated into the Contract of ﬁmploy-
ment. I have not seen and cannot be provided
with these documents. It might be that a "mo-
bility" clause would be contained in these rules
and conditions. I suspect, however, that these

would be in more general terms and would not

contain such a provision.

If it is right that the House Parent's Jjob
was at 17 Edward Road and not anywhefe else,
then the qguestion of the legal position once
there were no longer any children at the home
arises. Posed in that way it is obvious that

there was a redundancy situation in those circum-

stances.

Section 81(2) of the Employment Protection

(Consolidation) Act 1978, as amended, defines

redundancy as:-

"(a) the fact that his employef has
ceased, or intends to cease, to carry On
the business for the purposes of which the
employee was employed by him, or has ceased,
or intends to cease, to carry on that business
in the place where the employee was so emplo-

yed, or
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(b) the fact that the reguirements of that
business for employees to carry out work
of a particular kind, or for employees fo
carry out work of a particular kind in the
place where he was sO employed, have ceased

or diminished or are expected to cease or

diminish."”

The "place where the employee was employed"
has been held to mean the place or places where,
by his contract, he could be required to work

(see e.g. U.K. Atomic Energy Authority v Claydon

[1974] I.C.R. 128). Clearly, when the Local
Authority ceased to carry on the business of
child care at 17 Edward Road, the House Parent
was redundant. He could have been dismissed

for reason of redundancy and such dismissal
would have been fair unless there was something
unfair about the selection of that House Parent
for redundancy. If dismissed for redundancy
he would have prima facie been entitled to
a redundancy payment, although this would not
have been the case had he unreaéonably refused
an offer of suitable employment at one of the
Council's other children's homes (section 82(3)).
Indeed by virtue of section.B82(7)(a) "inserted"

by the Redundancy Payments (Local Government)

(Modification) Order 1983 the offer of suitable

re-engagement can come- from -any other "Local
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Government" employer as SO defined. 1In essence,
for redundancy purposes, the whole of the Local
Government service is to be regarded as one

employer.

The second point on which I am asked to advise
is on the lawfulness of including express terms
in a 'House Parent's contract of -employment
providing for a power to dismiss in each of

two cases:-— .

/

(i) where the personal 1life and/or conduct
of the employee outside work interferes
with his or her ability to care for
the children in their charge ‘or makes

them unsuitable to do so.

(ii) Where the employee is unable competently‘
to perform ,his or her duties thereby
preventing the tCouﬁcil from complying
with its statutory duties towards children

in care.

There is no doubt in my mind that terms along
these lines could properly be included in a
House Parent's contract of employment. Indeed
all three of the reasons for dismissal implicit
in the proposed terms (conduct, competence

and breach of statutory duty by employer if
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employeé not dismissed) are potentially fair
reasons provided for by section 57 of the Employ-

ment Protection (Consolidation) Act 1978.

The third .point which arises is whether the
Council could lawfully dismiss a House Parent
in the'ciréumstances covered by the two proposed
contractual terms which I have set out. Again
the ,short answer is that the terms refer to
potentiélly fair reasons for dismissal. within

section 57.,

So far as competence is concerned (section

57(2)(a) and section 57(4)) the dismissal will

be fair .provided that the Council can show
that it had\ reasonable grounds for its belief
that the employee was incompetent (actual incom-
petence need not be proved) and that the proce-
dure ‘adopfed- for the dismissal was fair. It
is far too large a topic to address in this

Advice. 1In essence it involves proper warnings,

notification of complaints, the giving of a

chance to improve and SO on. All will depend
in the final analysis on the Industrial Tri-
bunal's view of the reasonableness of the
Council's decision to dismiss and the way in

which it was carried out. )
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So far as incompetence preventing the Council
from fulfilling its statutory duties in relation
to children in care is concerned (section 57(2)
(b)) the. Council here must establish that due
to the continued employment of the employee
it would in fact contravene somé enactment.
However, if the Council believes on reasonable
’ g:ounds that such would be the case then a
dismissai might be fairly based .on the catch-
all "seme other substantial reason"” prevision

A}

of 'section 57(1)(b). See Bouchaala v Trust

House Forte [1980] IRLR 382. - Again I must

stress‘ that even if the Council can establish
a potentially fair reason; the dismissal will
only be fair if the procedure (for dismissing)

adopted is reasonable.

Conduct outside work is a more problematical
area. A dismissal can be fairly based on such

conduct only where it reflects on the employment

relationship:-

"For off—auty conduct to qualify under this
head it would seem that it must in some way
be linked with the general relationship between
employer and employee. A criminal offence
outside the course of employment - justifies

dismissal only if it renders the employee
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unsuitable for his work or makes him unaccept-

able to fellow employees.”

(Hepple. & O'Higgins on Employment Law, §617)

It is clear in my view that relevant sexual
impropriety outside work would Jjustify the

dismissal of a House Parent. There have been

a number of similar cases before the Courts

(see e.g. Nottinghamshire County Council Vv

Bowly [1978] IRLR 252 where the EAT held that
ﬁhe dismissal of a teacher who héd been convicted
of gross indecency was fair even though there
was no evidence that he had induiged'in relation-
ships of any sort with pupils for whom he was
responsible.) The high water mark of such
decisons at present is a Scottish case in which
a maintenance man at a children's .camp Wwas
dismissed after admitting that he was a homo-
sexual even though there was psychiatric evidence
that he was not interested in, or a danger

to, children. (See Saunders Vv Scottish National

Camps [1980] IRLR 174 EAT: [1981] IRLR 277

Court of Session.) These decisions would Sinc

my view definitely pe followed if the House
Parent was fbund guilty of, or merely admitted
to, sexual practices'making him or her unsuitable

for the job.
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Conduct outside work ‘of other than a sexual
nature will not necessarily afford a justifiable
reason for dismissal. Dishonesty as a rule
will do; one recent case has decided that posses-
sion of cannabis by drama teacher will not
do. However, precedénts are of 1it£le vaiue
as this is an a?ea where reasonébleness in
the .circumstances is all important. If the
out of work conducf can reasobnably be viewed
as affecting the person's suitabiiity for the
job of house parent then again provided a fair
dismissal procedure is adopted a dismissal

might be fair.

Finally I am asked to advise whether in the
case of misconduct the Council would be justified
in dismissing "on the basis of, for example,
the uncorroborated "evidence" of children.
The answer is yes, provided reasonable efforts

are made to investigate the allegations and
after such investigations (which ‘must include
putting the allegations to the person in ques-
tion) the éouncil'genuinely believes, on reason-
able grounds, that the allegations are true.

See British Homes Stores V Burchell [1978]

IRLR ‘378 EAT; Morley's of Brixton v Minott

[1982] IRLR 270 EAT. The Council need not

be satisfied on evidence which would be required




for a conviction in a criminal court. ﬁowever,inl
any event, it is worth noting .thét even in
the criminal courts the uncorroborated evideﬁce
of children is admissible, even thpugh of course
it must be treated with caution {(see DPP W
Hester [1973] AC 296 - sworn evidence). Again
it is real;y a question of procedure. So long
as a fair investigation has been éarried ocut
and the person under suspicion been given a

hearing, the dismissal may be fair.

ANTONY WHITE
p

September 1985
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